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Offering Memorandum 

This offering document (the “Offering Memorandum”) constitutes an offering of the securities described herein only in those 

jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and may be sold only by persons permitted to sell these securities and only 

to those persons to whom they may be lawfully offered for sale. This Offering Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is it 

to be construed as, a prospectus or an advertisement or a public offering of these securities. No prospectus has been filed with any 

such authority in connection with the securities offered. 

Date: April 16, 2025 

The Issuer 

Name: Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation (the “Company”, “Cambridge”, 
“we” or “us”) 

Head office: Address: Suite 201 - 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, BC Canada V6C 2T5 
Phone #: (604) 484-8199          Website: www.cambridgemic.com 
E-mail: info@cambridgemic.com

Currently listed or quoted? These securities do not trade on any exchange or market. 

Reporting issuer?  No  

SEDAR+ filer No (other than reports of exempt distributions in certain jurisdictions) 

The Offering 

Securities offered: Class B Preferred Non-Voting Shares (“Class B Shares”)  
Class C Preferred Non-Voting Shares (“Class C Shares”) 
Class D Preferred Non-Voting Shares (“Class D Shares”) 
Class E Preferred Non-Voting Shares (“Class E Shares”)  
(Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares and Class E Shares together, 
the “Preferred Shares”) 

Price per security: $1.00 per Preferred Share 

Minimum/Maximum offering: 0 / no maximum  

There is no minimum or maximum offering.  You may be the only purchaser. 
Shares have been sold in prior offerings. For certain information on prior sales of 
Shares, see Item 4.3 “Prior Sales”. 

Minimum subscription amount: There is no minimum subscription amount an investor must invest, subject to 
compliance with the terms of exemptions from prospectus requirements under 
applicable securities laws and the discretion of the Company to waive or change 
such minimum from time to time. See Item 5.1 “Terms and Securities” and 5.2 
“Subscription Procedure” and review the subscription agreement available from 
the Company. 

Payment terms: The subscription price for Preferred Shares purchased is payable in full on the 
applicable closing of the offering. 

Proposed closing date(s): The Board of Directors will determine the closing date(s) as subscriptions are 
received. 

Income tax consequences: There are important tax consequences to these securities.  See Item 6 “Income 
Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility”. 

Selling agent and compensation paid to sellers and finders: 
The Company will sell the Preferred Shares primarily through Cambridge Capital Management Corporation (“CCM”), 
which is registered as an exempt market dealer in British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario. No other agent has been 
exclusively appointed by the Company or Peet & Cowan Financial Services Inc. (“Peet & Cowan”), the manager of the 
Company, to sell the Preferred Shares; however, the Company and Peet & Cowan may pay compensation to sellers 
and finders at their discretion. A person may receive compensation in connection with the sale of securities under this 
offering. See Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders” and Item 8 “Risk Factors – Conflicts of 
Interest”. 



2 

Insufficient Funds 
Funds available under the offering may not be sufficient to accomplish the proposed objectives. See Item 2.6 
Insufficient Funds.  

Resale restrictions 
You will be restricted from selling your securities for an indefinite period.  See Item 10 “Resale Restrictions”. 

Related Party 
Some of your investment may be paid to a related party of the issuer. See Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers 
and Finders” and Item 8 “Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”. 

Purchaser's rights 
You have two business days to cancel your agreement to purchase these securities.  If there is a misrepresentation 
in this Offering Memorandum, you have the right to sue either for damages or to cancel the agreement.  See Item 11 
“Purchasers’ Rights”. 

No securities regulatory authority has assessed the merits of these securities or reviewed this offering 
memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is an offence.  This is a risky investment.  See Item 8 “Risk 
Factors”. 

Conditions of Repurchases 
You may request the issuer to repurchase the securities from you but this right is qualified by restrictions on 
amount of retraction requests received which are greater than 35% of the Preferred Shares issued and 
outstanding (as at the beginning of the then-current fiscal year during which such notices are given); or 
purchase of the aggregate number of Preferred Shares subject to the retraction notices given in a calendar 
month would result in the Company having purchased a number of Preferred Shares which is greater than 5% 
of the Preferred Shares issued and outstanding (as at the beginning of the then-current fiscal year during 
which such notices are given); and retractions that would cause us to cease to qualify as a MIC. As a result, 
you might not receive the amount of proceeds that you want. See Item 5 – Securities Offered. 

The Company is a “connected issuer” and a “related issuer” of CCM, as such terms are defined in National 
Instrument 33-105 – Underwriting Conflicts (“NI 33-105”). The Company has determined that it is a connected 
issuer and a related issuer of CCM by virtue of CCM’s role as an exempt market dealer engaged to sell the 
Preferred Shares offered hereby and based on the fact that the Company and CCM have common security 
holders, directors and officers. See Item 8 “Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”. 



3 

CONFIDENTIALITY 

This Offering Memorandum is confidential. The information contained in this Offering Memorandum is 
intended only for the persons to whom it is transmitted for the purposes of evaluating the securities offered 
hereby. By accepting a copy of this Offering Memorandum, the recipient agrees that neither it nor any of its 
representatives or agents shall use this offering memorandum or the information contained herein for any 
other purpose or divulge it to any other party and shall return all copies of the Offering Memorandum to the 
Company promptly upon request. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Offering Memorandum contains certain statements or disclosures that may constitute forward-looking 
information under applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of 
words like “believes”, “intends”, “expects”, “may”, “will”, “should”, or “anticipates”, or the negative 
equivalents of those words or comparable terminology, and by discussions of strategies that involve risks 
and uncertainties.  

All forward-looking statements are based on the Company’s current beliefs as well as assumptions made 
by and information currently available to the Company, and such assumptions about future events may 
prove to be incorrect.  

The risks and uncertainties of the Company’s business, including those discussed under Item 8 “Risk 
Factors”, could cause the Company’s actual results and experience to differ materially from the anticipated 
results or other expectations expressed. See risk factors as set out in this Offering Memorandum under 
Item 8 “Risk Factors” for certain risk factors that could cause actual results to differ from those that are 
anticipated in such forward-looking information. Readers are cautioned that the list of risk factors contained 
in Item 8 “Risk Factors” is not exhaustive. New risk factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible 
for the Company to predict all of these factors or to assess in advance the impact of each such factor on 
the Company’s business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual 
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking information. 

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, prospective investors should not place undue reliance 
on forward-looking statements and should be aware that events described in the forward-looking 
statements set out in this Offering Memorandum may not occur. The Company cannot assure prospective 
investors that its future results, levels of activity and achievements will occur as the Company expects, and 
neither the Company nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of 
the forward-looking statements. Except as required by law, the Company assumes no obligation to update 
or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 

CANADIAN CURRENCY 

All dollar amounts stated herein, unless otherwise stated, are expressed in the currency of Canada. 
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Item 1: Use of Available Funds 

1.1  Funds 

The funds that will be available to the Company from this offering, together with the funds that will be 
available from other sources, are set out in the following table. 

(1) There is no minimum or maximum offering. The amounts shown under “Assuming maximum offering” and “Assuming 
minimum offering” are assumed amounts for illustrative purposes only. As of April 16, 2025, the Company had a total of 
345,081,027 Preferred Shares issued.

(2) The Company intends to primarily sell the Preferred Shares through CCM, an exempt market dealer registered in British 
Columbia, Alberta and Ontario. CCM shall be paid (i) by Peet & Cowan, a processing fee, as described under Item 7 
“Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”, which fee will represent a maximum of 2.5% of the 1.5% management fees 
paid by the Company to Peet & Cowan under the Management Agreement, as defined below (the “Processing Fee”); and 
(ii) from the Company on behalf of the investor, as their agent, and deducted from applicable dividends, a 
commission of up to 1% of the gross purchase price of the number of Preferred Shares subscribed for by certain 
investors who have purchased their Preferred Shares through CCM, per year calculated for each quarter that such 
investors retain those Preferred Shares (the “Trailer Fee”). Assuming a maximum offering and assuming all of the Preferred 
Shares in this offering are sold through CCM, CCM will receive (i) an anticipated maximum Processing Fee of approximately
$18,750 from Peet & Cowan in 2025, and (ii) a maximum Trailer Fee equal to $500,000 transferred from the Company on 
behalf of the investor, for the Preferred Shares distributed under the offering per year for each year such Preferred Shares 
are retained by the subscribers in this offering. Peet & Cowan or the Company may from time to time enter into agreements 
with third party registered dealers, who will be paid fees by the Company or Peet & Cowan to bring investors to the Company. 
The Company and Peet & Cowan will not pay any commission or finder’s fee to any person, other than a registered dealer, 
in connection with the issuances of Preferred Shares sold under this offering. Other registered investment dealers may 
charge additional fees as applicable.

(3) This amount includes: (a) the balance of the maximum amount available under our credit facility with a financial institution 
(as defined below) as at the date of this Offering Memorandum (See Item 2.2 “Our Business – Credit Facility”); and (b) 
additional funds which are available from operating profits.

(4) At a date that is not more than 30 days prior to the date of this Offering Memorandum.

1.2  Use of Available Funds 

Description of intended use of available funds listed in 

order of priority 

Assuming minimum 

offering (1) 

Assuming maximum 
offering (1) 

Investment in mortgages in British Columbia, Ontario 

and Alberta 

$119,570,154.90 $169,570,094.90 

(1) There is no minimum or maximum offering. The amounts shown under “Assuming maximum offering” and “Assuming
minimum offering” are assumed amount for illustrative purposes only. As of April 16, 2025, the Company had a total of
345,081,027 Preferred Shares issued.  As in previous years, operating fees, expenses and taxes for fiscal year 2025 have
been or will be paid by operating revenues received during that year. We expect this to continue in the future.

Description Assuming minimum 

offering (1) 

Assuming maximum 

offering (1) 

A. Amount to be raised by this offering $0.00 $50,000,000 

B. Selling commissions and fees $0.00 $0 per year(2) 

C. Estimated offering costs (including legal,

accounting and audit.)

$60,000 $60,000 

D. Available funds: D = A - (B+C) ($60,000) $49,940,000 

E. Additional sources of funding available $119,630,154.90(3) $169,570,154.90(3) 

F. Working capital deficiency $0.00(4) $0.00(4) 

G. Total: G = (D+E) – F $119,570,154.90 $119,680,094.90 
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1.3  Reallocation   

The Company intends to spend the available funds as stated.  The Company will reallocate funds only for 
sound business reasons. 

Item 2:    Business of Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation 

2.1 Structure   

We are a corporation incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the “BCBCA”) 
on February 19, 2007.  

2.2 Our Business 

Overview  

The Company intends to carry on business as a “mortgage investment corporation” (hereinafter defined as 
a “MIC”) and meet the requirements to qualify as a MIC under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Income 
Tax Act”). Our business is to make a diversified range of predominantly residential and other loans secured 
by first and second mortgages, and a very small number of third mortgages, on real estate properties 
located primarily in British Columbia, but also some in Alberta and Ontario. On occasion, however, we will 
make loans secured by real estate in other provinces in circumstances where we determine that we will 
receive adequate security. We earn most of our income from the interest paid on these mortgages. The 
balance of our income is earned from lender fees, renewal fees, discharge fees, short term rental of 
properties we acquire from foreclosures under mortgages held by us and capital gains when such properties 
are sold. 

Taxation of a MIC 

Under the Income Tax Act, a MIC is not taxed on its net income if such income is distributed annually to its 
shareholders. Therefore, to qualify as a MIC and receive this favourable treatment, subject to the discretion 
of the Board of Directors, we intend to distribute all of our net income to holders of our Preferred Shares by 
way of dividends. When declared, dividends are paid quarterly, and at the election of each holder of 
Preferred Shares (hereinafter defined as a “Preferred Shareholder”), may be received in cash or in 
additional Preferred Shares. These dividends are not treated as capital dividends and are subject to tax as 
described in Item 6 “Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility”.   

Business Restrictions of a MIC 

To qualify as a MIC we are also restricted by the Income Tax Act to carrying on the following activities: 

(a) our business must be passive and of an investment nature (therefore, we cannot actively manage 
or develop residential or commercial real estate properties); and 

(b) our only business can be the investment of funds.  

Furthermore, the investments that we as a MIC can make are subject to the following restrictions: 

(a) at least 50% of the cost amount of all of our assets must consist of bank deposits or debts secured 
on Canadian homes or housing projects; 

(b)  no more than 25% of the cost amount of all of our assets can consist of ownership of, or lease 
interests in, real estate unless acquired through foreclosure; 

(c)  we cannot invest our funds in: 

(1) real estate located outside Canada or in leasehold interests in such real estate; 

(2) debts of persons not resident in Canada unless the debt is secured by a mortgage on real 
estate located within Canada; and 

(3) shares of corporations not resident in Canada; and 

(d) our net leveraging (the ratio of the amount of our outstanding liabilities to the amount by which the 
cost of our assets exceeds our liabilities) cannot exceed a 3:1 ratio unless more than two-thirds of 



8 

our investments are in residential mortgages and bank deposits, in which case our net leveraging 
cannot exceed a 5:1 ratio. 

Rate of Return on Investment 

The average return paid by the Company is determined annually by our Board of Directors on December 
31st, our financial year end. The adjusted total value of the outstanding share capital held by the Preferred 
Shareholders at the end of each quarter and eligible for quarterly dividend distribution, is considered to 
calculate the average return/performance data. The average annual yield on adjusted share capital for our 
Preferred Shareholders for the past ten financial years is set out in the following table:  

Dividends paid 
in (1)(2)  2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Dividend (%) 10.73 9.55 8.20 7.28 7.70 8.00 8.19 8.07 7.99 7.49 

(1) The factors which affect the amount of such return are described in Item 8 “Risk Factors”.  The rates of return are averages
for all of our Preferred Shareholders and may not reflect the return received by any one Preferred Shareholder. There is no
guarantee that such rates of return will continue or that Preferred Shareholders will receive similar returns in future years.

(2) The rate of return is not net of trailer fee payments, payable to registered dealers, as agreed by the investor and paid on 
behalf of the investor.

Management of Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation 

To provide for the management of our business we entered into a management agreement dated as of 
February 19, 2007 with Cowan Financial Services Inc. (“CFS”).  That management agreement was 
amended and later assigned to Peet & Cowan pursuant to an assignment and assumption agreement dated 
February 1, 2010. The management of our business is now governed by an Amended and Restated 
Management Agreement between Cambridge and Peet & Cowan dated as of January 19, 2012 (hereinafter 
defined as the “Management Agreement”). Peet & Cowan carries on its business as “Peet and Cowan 
Financial Services Inc.”, is a registered mortgage broker under the Mortgage Brokers Act (British Columbia, 
Alberta and Ontario) and is wholly owned by Jonathon Cowan, Francis Peet & CFS. 

The Management Agreement has a one year term, and automatically renews annually for further one year 
terms without any further action required by us or Peet & Cowan.  The Management Agreement may be 
terminated by either party on 30 days written notice.  Under this Management Agreement, Peet & Cowan 
is required to provide mortgage origination, underwriting and management services to us, including: 

(a) originating suitable mortgage investments that are applicable to a MIC;

(b) administering mortgage loans on our behalf within investment parameters established by our Board
of Directors and underwriting mortgage applications and reviewing credit and suitability of mortgage
applicants within such parameters;

(c) carrying out our day-to-day administration including, but not limited to, ordering appraisals and
obtaining valuations of mortgage security;

(d) providing monthly reports on our operations to our Board of Directors and assessing the use and
purpose of mortgage funds of a mortgage applicant and assessing the suitability of such potential
loan and security as it pertains to Cambridge’s underwriting criteria;

(e) communicating with our shareholders and answering shareholder questions;

(f) preparing accounting information for our auditor; and

(g) furnishing us with all necessary administrative services including providing office space,
administrative staff, maintaining books and records and managing all matters required in
connection with the services set out under the Management Agreement.

The Management Agreement provides that Peet & Cowan will be paid a management fee for its 
management services of an amount equal to 1.5% of the total daily mortgage receivables of Cambridge 
Mortgage Investment Corporation under management by Peet & Cowan averaged monthly and to be paid 
monthly. In circumstances where it deems appropriate, Peet & Cowan may reduce the amount it is entitled 
to receive for any given month.   
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Investment Strategy 

Our investment strategy is specifically intended to qualify for the special tax treatment afforded to MICs 
under the Income Tax Act.  For this reason, the majority of our funds are invested in residential mortgage 
loans, with any balance held in bank deposits.  At times we also invest our funds in construction, commercial 
and interim mortgage loans; however, this is not our primary investment focus. Most new mortgages are 
issued with terms that range between one and two years and interest rates that range between 6.89% and 
14.00%. Majority of our mortgages are issued at variable rates that are dependent on the RBC prime rate. 
No funds are ever loaned to one of our principals or officers.  We ensure that the types of mortgage loans 
we have invested in, and will continue to invest in, are consistent with the criteria for a MIC under the Income 
Tax Act.  By adhering to these Income Tax Act criteria, we should be accorded the 'flow through' tax 
treatment given to MICs which results in no tax obligations arising in respect of our net income, all of which 
is intended to be distributed in the form of dividends to our Preferred Shareholders.  See item 6 “Income 
Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility”. 

We currently have a credit facility with a syndicate of chartered banks (the “Bank”).  Provided we 
maintain the Bank’s capital and other requirements pursuant to our Credit Agreement (as defined in 
paragraph 2.7), we can make mortgage loans using the available credit facility funds which enables us to 
leverage our capital base. See “Credit Facility” below. 

Operation Policy 

The residential loans we make are primarily secured by first, second and a small number of third mortgages. 
The mortgage loans are predominantly made against securities located in British Columbia, Ontario and 
Alberta. It is our mandate that the mortgage loans we make have a loan to appraised property market value 
ratio at origination of not more than 70%, however, the lending committee has the discretion to approve 
mortgage loans that exceed this ratio when they deem it beneficial to do so.  Most mortgage loans have a 
12 month term, although occasionally we may grant a loan that has a longer repayment term. 

Prior to approving any mortgage loans, we assess the security being provided to us by reviewing a qualified 
independent appraisal of the subject property, along with such other materials we deem appropriate 
including credit reports, financial records of the borrowers and economic considerations that may affect the 
market value of the property. Subsequent valuations of the property may be conducted at various stages, 
including at mortgage renewals and at draw requests.   

As part of our prudent lending practices, we also limit the amount of funds we will lend to any one borrower 
or one group of affiliated borrowers or property in order to limit our overall risk exposure.  

Credit Facility 

We have established a revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with the Bank. As at April 16, 2025, 
our current loan balance is $10,369,845.10  with a maximum of $130,000,000 of available credit and for 
which the current interest rates on outstanding balance do not exceed the prevailing Canadian prime 
interest rate for commercial loans plus 0.75% and a standby fees of 0.30% on the unadvanced amount of 
the credit facility. We may borrow under the Credit Facility either as “Prime Loans” in minimum advance 
amounts of $100,000 and in multiples of $10,000 and for which applicable interest is calculated by 
reference to Canadian prime commercial loans, OR as “CORRA Loans” in minimum advance amounts of 
$500,000 and in larger whole multiples of $100,000  and for which applicable interest is calculated by 
reference to the Canadian Overnight Repo Rate Average administered and published by the Bank of 
Canada. Included as part of this maximum $130,000,000 amount is a $15,000,000 sub-facility which is 
available to us on shorter notice at the same interest rates applicable to Prime Loans. The maximum 
amount of $130,000,000 is subject to potential downward adjustment based on the overall size of our 
mortgage portfolio and the mix of loans (i.e., as among first priority residential mortgage loans, second 
priority residential mortgage loans, first priority residential construction mortgage loans, first priority 
commercial mortgage loans and first priority serviced residential land mortgage loans) making up our 
mortgage portfolio and therefore the maximum amount stated above may be lower. 

The following security has been granted by Cambridge to the Bank to secure the Credit Facility: 

a) a general security agreement providing a first security interest in all present and after acquired
property and a floating charge over all real property, present and future;
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b) a general assignment of all legal and beneficial interest in all present and future mortgages in our
mortgage portfolio; and

c) general power of attorney in respect of all present and future mortgages in our mortgage portfolio.

Dealer Services Agreement 

The Company may appoint registered dealers as agents to sell securities of the Company. The Company 
entered into a Dealer Services Agreement dated for reference February 20, 2020 by and among CCM, Peet 
& Cowan and the Company (the “Dealer Services Agreement”) . A first amendment was executed and 
dated for reference November 20, 2023 and a second amendment was executed and dated for reference 
on November 28, 2024. The Company is a “connected issuer” and a “related issuer” of CCM, as such terms 
are defined in NI 33-105. The Company has determined that it is a connected issuer and a related issuer 
of CCM by virtue of CCM’s role as an exempt market dealer engaged to sell the Preferred Shares offered 
hereby and based on the fact that the Company and CCM have common securityholders, directors and 
officers. In addition, CCM is considered a “captive dealer” as defined by CSA Staff Notice 31-343 – Conflicts 
of Interest in Distributing Securities of Related or Connected Issuers (“CSA Staff Notice 31-343”)  because 
it solely or primarily distributes securities of related or connected issuers. See Item 8 “Risk Factors – 
Conflicts of Interest”. 

Under the Dealer Services Agreement and the subsequent amendment, CCM will use its commercially 
reasonable efforts to sell securities of the Company on a continuous, private placement basis in British 
Columbia, Alberta and Ontario. For CCM’s services, CCM will receive (i)  from Peet & Cowan, a Processing 
Fee equal to a maximum of 2.5% of the 1.5% management fee charged by Peet & Cowan to the 
Company, payable as outlined in Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”, and (ii) from the 
Company on behalf of the investor, a quarterly Trailer Fee of up to 1% of  the aggregate investor capital 
retained by the Company as at the end of the preceding quarter (also see Item 7 “Compensation Paid to 
Sellers and Finders”). Additionally, Peet & Cowan will, at its own cost and at no cost to CCM, allocate 
a portion of its offices for use by CCM, and provide CCM with accounting and administrative support and 
all office furnishings, systems, equipment, communication and IT support reasonably required by CCM, in 
the performance of the services provided under the Dealer Services Agreement. CCM may, upon 
receiving approval from the Company, retain as sub-agents other registered dealers and may receive 
subscriptions for Preferred Shares offered hereby from investors arranged by such other registered 
dealers. The fees payable to any such sub-agents will be paid by CCM or such investors.  

The Dealer Services Agreement may be terminated: (a) by the written agreement of the parties; (b) by 
CCM immediately upon written notice to Peet & Cowan and the Company in the event the Peet & Cowan 
or the Company is in breach of, default under or non-compliance with any material covenant, 
representation, warranty, term or condition of the Dealer Services Agreement; and (c) by Peet & Cowan 
or the Company, individually or collectively, (i) immediately upon written notice to CCM in the event 
CCM is in breach of, default under or non-compliance with any material covenant, representation, 
warranty, term or condition of the Dealer Services Agreement, or (ii) with 30 days’ prior written notice to 
CCM. Additionally, the Dealer Services Agreement will terminate immediately in the event CCM becomes 
prohibited for any reason from selling or distributing securities in British Columbia, Alberta or Ontario. 
CCM is controlled by Jonathon Cowan and Francis Peet, who are directors and officers of the Company 
and is therefore considered to be a related party to the Company. 

2.3 Development of Business 

Since incorporation, business has grown steadily as a result of our conservative and targeted lending 
practices.  We believe this approach has delivered acceptable rates of return to our shareholders while 
minimizing the risk to our invested capital.  During our two most recently completed financial years there 
have not been any significant unusual events that have favourably, or adversely, influenced the 
development of our business.   

In October, 2023, the holders of the Company’s Common Shares and the Class B Shares approved 
certain alterations to the special rights and restrictions of the Common Shares and the Class B Shares as 
set out in the Articles of the Company which are expected to allow the Preferred Shares to be classified as 
equity 



11 

instruments for accounting purposes, and created three new classes of shares in the authorized share 
structure of the Company for administrative purposes.  

Our mortgage portfolio as at April 16, 2025 consisted of 714 active mortgage secured loans as follows: 

Mortgages by province:  

Province Principal Balance % of Total Principal 
Balance 

# of Loans 

British Columbia $317,047,821.74 87.63% 580 

Alberta $20,387,830.00 5.63% 53 

Ontario $24,387,558.83 6.74% 81 

TOTAL $361,823,210.57 100.00% 714 

Mortgages by priority of charge: 

Priority Principal Balance % of Total Principal 
Balance 

First $267,419,073.47 73.91% 

Second $93,328,942.10 25.79% 

Third $1,075,195.00 0.30% 

TOTAL $361,823,210.57 100.00% 

Mortgages by type of property: 

Property Type Principal Balance % of Total Principal 
Balance 

Single family dwelling $255,757,159.12 70.69% 

Townhome $19,901,649.75 5.50% 

Apartment/condo $48,957,959.95 13.53% 

Vacant land – residential $14,080,471.75 3.89% 

Multi Family/Mixed Used $10,207,020.00 2.82% 

Commercial $12,918,950.00 3.57% 

TOTAL $361,823,210.57 100.00% 

Loan to value ratio of mortgages: 

Current LTV Balance % of Total Principal 
Balance 

# of Loans 

40% or Lower $75,470,845.04 20.86% 199 

40.01% - 60% $164,568,822.17 45.48% 304 

60.1% or Over $121,783,543.36 33.66% 211 

TOTAL $361,823,210.57 100.00%  714 

Average portfolio loan to value weighted by the principal balance of the mortgages: 51.65% 
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Mortgages by mortgage type: 

Mortgage Type Principal Balance % of Total Principal Balance 

Residential $320,755,078.32 88.65% 

Commercial $13,195,450.00 3.65% 

Construction $27,872,682.25 7.70% 

TOTAL $361,823,210.57 100.00% 

Mortgages by interest rate: 

Weighted by the principal balance of the mortgages in the portfolio: 

Average Interest Rate 10.01% 

Average Term to Maturity 6.80 months 

Average Credit Score 730 

Percentage of mortgages by mortgage balance that mature within one year of April 16, 2025: 
92.75% 

Mortgages with payment arrears of over 90 days: 

Number of Mortgages 19 

Aggregate Principal Balance $20,580,003.22 

% of Total Principal Balance 5.69% 

Weighted Average Loan to Value 52.74% 

2.4  Long Term Objectives 

We have two long term objectives.  The first is to continue the development of our business and take a 
measured approach to increase the capital base invested in Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation 
such that we hope to have $500,000,000 under management within 3 years.  The cost to achieve this 
objective will be the costs associated with the preparation and filing of this Offering Memorandum, including 
professional fees and compensation paid to sellers and finders where applicable, together with the 
expenses set out in Item 1.1 herein.  We will ensure that such capital growth occurs at a measured rate 
that will enable us to source and invest in prudent mortgage loans, in order to maximize our Preferred 
Shareholders capital rate of return while minimizing risk.  Our second objective is to achieve a return on  

Interest Rate Range Principal Balance 
% of Total 

Principal Balance 
# of 

Loans 

6.89% to 9% $87,515,529.64 24.19% 143 

9.01% to 11% $204,556,224.02 56.53% 396 

11.01% to 13% $65,955,790.16 18.23% 167 

13.01% or greater $3,795,666.75 1.05%  8 

TOTAL $361,823,210.57 100.00% 714 
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capital in the order of 8.50% to 10.00% per year.  The cost to achieve this objective will be the management 
fees, professional fees, interest and bank charges and licenses and dues as set out in Item 1.1 herein. 
There cannot be any assurance, however, on the actual rate of future returns.   

2.5  Short Term Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them 

Our objectives for the next 12 months are to increase our capital base by $50,000,000 by selling up to 
50,000,000 of our Preferred Shares.  As of the date of this Offering Memorandum: 

What we must do and how we will do it 

Target completion date 

or, if not known, number 

of months to complete 

Our cost to complete 

Minimum 

Offering 

Maximum 

Offering 

Increase our capital base by 
$50,000,000 and provide mortgage 
loans with a reasonable and 
manageable level of risk in accordance 
with our lending practices. 

Next 12 months $60,000 $60,000(1) 

(1) If 50,000,000 Preferred Shares are sold by CCM, a maximum of $500,000 per year, for each year such Preferred Shares are
retained by the subscribers, may be transferred from the Company  to CCM in Trailer Fees on behalf of the investor and deducted
from applicable dividends, as set out in Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”.

2.6  Insufficient Funds 

The funds available as a result of the Offering either may not be sufficient to accomplish all of the 
Company’s proposed objectives and there is no assurance that alternative financing will be available. 

2.7  Material Agreements  

We are currently a party to the following material contracts: 
(a) Amended and Restated Management Agreement between the Company and Peet & Cowan dated

January 19, 2012. See Item 2.2 “Our Business – Management of Cambridge Mortgage Investment
Corporation”;

(b) Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with the syndicate of Banks dated August 28,
2024 and the corresponding security agreements required thereunder. See Item 2.2 “Our Business
- Credit Facility”.

(c) Amended and Restated Shareholders’ Agreement dated as of April 26, 2022 among Jonathon
Cowan, Francis Peet, Mark Atmore and Michael Atmore (collectively, the “Class A Shareholders”)
and Cambridge.

(d) Dealer Services Agreement dated for reference February 20, 2020 and the First Amendment to the
Dealer Services Agreement dated for reference November 20, 2023 and the Second Amendment
to the Dealer Services Agreement dated for reference November 28, 2024; among CCM, the
Company and Peet & Cowan. See Item 2.2 “Our Business - Dealer Services Agreement”.
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Item 3:      Interests of Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders 

3.1  Compensation and Securities Held – The following table discloses the compensation paid to, and 
securities held by each of our directors and officers and each person who, directly or indirectly, beneficially 
owns or controls more than 10% of our voting securities (a “Principal Holder”).  

Name and municipality 
of principal residence 

Positions held and 
the date of obtaining 

that position 

Compensation paid 
by us in the most 

recently completed 
financial year (and 
the compensation 
anticipated to be 

paid in the current 
financial year) 

Number, type and 
percentage of 

securities of the 
issuer held after 

completion of min. 
offering 

Number, type 
and percentage 
of securities of 
the issuer held 

after completion 
of max. offering 

Jonathon Cowan, 
North Vancouver, BC 

Director, President, 
Secretary, Principal 
Holder since Feb. 
19, 2007 

0(1) 
(0)(1) 

100 Class A 
Common Voting 
(25%) 

100 Class A 
Common 
Voting (25%) 

Francis Peet,  
North Vancouver, BC 

Director, Vice-
President since 
Jan. 13, 2012 
Principal Holder 
since 
Feb. 19, 2007 

0(1) 
(0)(1) 

100 Class A 
Common Voting 
(25%) 

100 Class A 
Common 
Voting (25%) 

Michael Atmore West 
Vancouver, BC 

Principal Holder 
since April 26, 2022  

0 
(0) 

100 Class A 
Common Voting 
(25%) 

100 Class A 
Common 
Voting (25%) 

Mark Atmore,  
North Vancouver, BC 

Principal Holder 
since May 15, 2017 

0 
(0) 

100 Class A 
Common Voting 
(25%) 

100 Class A 
Common 
Voting (25%) 

(1) While Mr. Cowan and Mr. Peet do not receive any direct compensation from the Company, they are controlling shareholders of 
Peet & Cowan, which receives management fees from the Company. See Item 2.2 “Our Business – Management of Cambridge 
Mortgage Investment Corporation”.  

3.2  Management Experience   

The following table discloses the principal occupations of our directors and officers over the past five years 
and their relevant experience in businesses similar to ours. The directors and executive officers are 
responsible for establishing and implementing the investment objective, the investment strategy, monitoring 
the performance & composition of the portfolio and setting applicable lending limitations & restrictions. 

Full legal name Principal occupation and related experience 
Jonathon Timber 
Cowan 

Registered Mortgage Broker since 1993.  
Director, President and Secretary of Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation 
since February 19, 2007. 
Principal of Peet & Cowan Financial Services Inc. since February 1, 2010. 
Director and President of Peet & Cowan Financial Services Inc. since February 1, 
2010. 
Principal of Cowan Financial Services Inc. since November 30, 1995. 
Director, President & Secretary of Cowan Financial Services Inc. since November 
30, 1995. 
Ultimate Designated Principal, President and Dealing Representative of Cambridge 
Capital Management Corporation since February 2020. 

Francis Michael 
Bruno Peet 

Registered Mortgage Broker since 1986. 
Director and Vice-President of Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation since 
January 13, 2012. 
Principal of Peet & Cowan Financial Services Inc. since February 1, 2010. 
Director and Secretary of Peet & Cowan Financial Services Inc. since February 1, 
2010. 
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Vice-President of Cambridge Capital Management Corporation since February 2020. 
Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

None of our directors, executive officers or control persons or issuers of which they were a director, 
executive officer or control person at the time, has been at any time during the last 10 years: 

(a) subject to any penalty or sanction;

(b) subject to any cease trading order in effect for more than 30 consecutive days; or

(c) subject of any declaration of bankruptcy, voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, proposal under any
bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or
appointment of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to hold assets.

3.3  Loans 

We are not indebted to any of our directors, management, promoters and principal holders, nor are any of 
them indebted to us. 

Item 4: Capital Structure 

4.1  Share Capital  

Our share capital is set out in the following table: 

Description of 
security 

Number 
authorized 
to be 
issued 

Price per 
security 

Number outstanding 
as at the date of this 
Offering 
Memorandum 

Number 
outstanding 
after min. 
offering 

Number 
outstanding 
after max. 
offering 

Class A Common 
Voting Shares 

1,000 $0.01 400 400 400 

Class B Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares(1)(2) 

Unlimited $1.00 283,366,587 N/A N/A 

Class C Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares(1)(2) 

Unlimited $1.00 61,714,440 N/A N/A 

Class D Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares(1)(2) 

Unlimited $1.00 0 N/A N/A 

Class E Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares(1)(2) 

Unlimited $1.00 0 N/A N/A 

Options 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Warrants 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Convertible 
Securities 

0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

(1) There is no minimum or maximum offering.
(2) See item 5.1 – “Securities Offered – Terms of Securities” for the material terms of the Preferred Shares.
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4.2  Long Term Debt  

We do not currently have any long-term debt nor any current portion of long-term debt. 

4.3  Prior Sales 

Within the last 12 months, we have issued the following Preferred Shares (including converted reinvested 
dividends throughout that period):   

MONTH OF ISSUE NO. OF CLASS B 
SHARES 

NO. OF CLASS C 
SHARES 

PRICE PER SHARE 

April 17- 30 2024 5,183,181 0 $1.00 
May 2024 2,011,400 100,000 $1.00 
June 2024 2,610,626 137,453 $1.00 
July 2024 1,782,490 0 $1.00 
August 2024 6,135,000 250,000 $1.00 
September 2024 4,845,013 16,790 $1.00 
October 2024 6,702,890 2,553,406 $1.00 
November 2024 5,913,890 0 $1.00 
December 2024 4,900,033 10,614,077 $1.00 
January 2025 4,103,500 23,000,000 $1.00 
February 2025 2,556,800 23,500,000 $1.00 
March 2025 4,169,379 1,842,715 $1.00 
April 1-16 2025 1,179,430 0 $1.00 
Total 52,093,632 62,014,441 $1.00 

We have issued Class B and Class C Shares in the past 12 months (listed above). The funds received from 
the above-mentioned distributions are the same as the number of shares issued as the shares are valued 
at $1 per share.  

4.4  Repurchase Requests 

Within the last 2 most recently completed financial years, the following repurchase requests for were 
received inclusive of transfers:   

Description 
of Security 

Date of end 
of financial 
year 

Number of 
securities 
with 
outstanding 
repurchase 
requests on 
the first day 
of the year 

Number of 
securities for 
which 
investors 
made 
repurchase 
requests 
during the 
year 

Number of 
securities 
repurchased 
during the 
year 

Average 
price paid for 
the 
repurchased 
securities 

Source of 
funds used to 
complete the 
repurchases 

Number of 
securities 
with 
outstanding 
repurchase 
requests on 
the last day 
of the year 

Class B 
Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares 

31-Dec-23 NIL 35,160,465 35,160,465 
$1.00 per 
share 

Investment 
and/or 
Credit 
Facility 

NIL 

Class C 
Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares 

31-Dec-23 NIL NIL NIL N/A N/A N/A 

Class B 
Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares 

31-Dec-24 NIL 22,376,854 22,376,854 
$1.00 per 
share 

Investment 
and/or 
Credit 
Facility 

NIL 

Class C 
Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares 

31-Dec-24 NIL NIL NIL N/A N/A N/A 
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During the last quarter from January 1, 2025 to March 31, 2025, the following repurchase requests were 
received:    

Description 
of Security 

Beginning 
and end 
dates of the 
period 

Number of 
securities 
with 
outstanding 
repurchase 
requests on 
the first day 
of the year 

Number of 
securities for 
which 
investors 
made 
repurchase 
requests 
during the 
quarter 

Number of 
securities 
repurchased 
during the 
quarter 

Average 
price paid for 
the 
repurchased 
securities 

Source of 
funds used 
to complete 
the 
repurchases 

Number of 
securities 
with 
outstanding 
repurchase 
requests on 
the last day 
of the period 

Class B 
Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares 

January 1, 
2025 to 
March 31, 
2025 

NIL 3,738,757 3,738,757 
1.00 per 
share 

Investment 
and/or 
Credit 
Facility 

NIL 

Class C 
Preferred 
Non-Voting 
Shares 

January 1, 
2025 to 
March 31, 
2025 

NIL 900,000 900,000 
1.00 per 
share 

Investment 
and/or 
Credit 
Facility 

NIL 

Item 5: Securities Offered 

5.1  Terms of Securities 

The securities being offered for sale by this Offering Memorandum are the Class B Shares, Class C Shares, 
Class D Shares and Class E Shares (as defined on the face page of this Offering Memorandum) in our 
share capital. The rights and restrictions attached to the Preferred Shares are described below. 

Voting 

Our Preferred Shares do not have voting rights except to the limited extent provided by law (including 
without limitation for amendments which may prejudice or interfere with their special rights or restrictions 
attached to such Preferred Shares).  

Conversion 

Neither our Class A Common Voting shares (hereinafter defined as “Common Shares”) nor our Preferred 
Shares are convertible into any other form of share or security.  

Dividends 

When declared by the Board of Directors, dividends are paid to the Preferred Shareholders on a “dividend 
payment date” (which generally falls on the last business day in March, June, September, and December). 
Such dividends may be paid in cash or by having such cash used to purchase further Preferred Shares 
(including fractional Preferred Shares as needed) as per the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan 
(“DRIP”), as decided by the Preferred Shareholder.  

In accordance with the DRIP and subject to compliance with the applicable securities laws, investors may 
elect to receive their dividends in cash or to reinvest their dividends in the purchase of additional Preferred 
Shares at a price of $1.00 per Preferred Share. Investors may change their election from time to time by 
written notice to the Company not less than 30 days prior to a “dividend record date” (which generally occurs 
on or about the last day of March, June, September and December). See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan”. 

Preferred Shareholders will be entitled to receive any dividends as declared by the Board of Directors in 
respect of the Preferred Shares owned at the end of each fiscal quarter. Any Preferred Shareholder not 
holding a Preferred Share at the end of a fiscal quarter does not participate in any dividends declared that 
quarter. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, pro-rata dividends may be paid to Preferred 
Shareholders who have retracted their Preferred Shares during the fiscal quarter. Preferred Shares issued 
from us through the payment of dividends used to purchase Preferred Shares entitle that Preferred 
Shareholder to receive any dividends declared on such newly-issued Preferred Shares in the ensuing (but 
not the previous) fiscal quarter.  
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Holders of our Common Shares are not entitled to dividends (other than as may be necessary, if at all, to 
maintain our status as a MIC, e.g. see subparagraph (x) of Item 6 “Income Tax Consequences and RRSP 
Eligibility”).  

Liquidation Entitlement 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company or other distribution of property or 
asset of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs:  

(a) The holders of the Common Shares will be entitled to receive an amount equal to the aggregate
amount paid up on the shares held by them.

(b) After the Company has made the distributions contemplated by paragraph (a) above, the Preferred
Shareholders will be entitled to receive payment of any declared but unpaid dividends pari passu
with the declared but unpaid dividends on such other classes of Preferred Shares.

(c) After the Company has made the distributions contemplated by paragraph (a) and (b) above, the
Preferred Shareholders will receive all remaining assets of the Company pari passu with each of
the holders of such other classes of Preferred Shares.

Since we intend to pay out all of our net profits each year it is possible that on a liquidation, dissolution or 
winding-up event, our shareholders may not be paid the full amount paid for their shares.  

Transferability  

Our shares (both Common Shares and Preferred Shares) are subject to restrictions on transfer: 

(a) contained in our Articles which require any transfers to be approved by the Board of Directors;

(b) contained in our Articles to comply with the Income Tax Act respecting MICs (described below);
and

(c) imposed by applicable securities legislation (see item 10 – “Resale Restrictions”).

The Income Tax Act requires that a MIC may not have fewer than 20 shareholders and that no one 
shareholder, together with their spouse, children under the age of 18 and companies controlled by any of 
them, may hold more than 25% of a MIC’s issued shares. Accordingly, our Articles also prohibit any transfer 
of shares if such transfer would result in us having fewer than 20 shareholders or in any one shareholder, 
together with their spouse, children under the age of 18 and companies controlled by any of them, holding 
more than 25% of our issued shares.  

Redemption Rights 

The Company may, upon giving notices as provided in the Company’s Articles and subject to the BCBCA, 
redeem at any time or from time to time, in each case without any obligation to do so on a pro rata basis, 
such number of Preferred Shares as the Board of Directors may specify upon payment of the redemption 
price for each share to be redeemed (hereinafter called the “Redemption Price”). The Redemption Price 
for the Preferred Shares shall be the amount paid up thereon, plus any declared but unpaid dividends. The 
Common Shares are not redeemable provided that, subject to the BCBCA, the Company may purchase 
some or all of the Common Shares pursuant to the terms of any agreement between the Company and the 
applicable holder of the Common Shares so long as each such purchase does not result in the Company 
ceasing to qualify as a MIC.  

Retraction Rights 

Retraction Practice – In addition to the retraction right under the Articles of the Company as described 
below, a holder of Preferred Shares may request that the Company redeem all or any portion of their fully 
paid Preferred Shares upon providing the Company with at least 30 days advance written notice. The 
retraction price for each Preferred Share will be the net book value of the retracted Preferred Share plus 
the pro rata share of any accrued but unpaid dividends on such retracted Preferred Share.  

The retraction entitlement described above is provided at the discretion of the Board of Directors and is not 
reflected in the Articles of the Company, and is subject to the provisions of the BCBCA and applicable 
securities laws. In addition, the Company may suspend this entitlement during any period during which the 
Board of Directors determines that the conditions exist as a result of which the disposal of the Company’s 
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assets necessary to satisfy retractions is not reasonably practicable. Any suspension will take effect at the 
time declared by the Company and will terminate on the first day on which the condition giving rise to the 
suspension has ceased to exist. During the suspension period, no retractions of Preferred Shares will be 
permitted except as required under the Articles of the Company. If a holder of Preferred Shares has 
requested a retraction and a suspension occurs, the holder of Preferred Shares may either withdraw the 
retraction request within three business days of receiving notice of the suspension or receive payment 
based on an amount equal to the retraction amount calculated after the termination of suspension.  

Retraction Rights – Subject to the BCBCA and applicable securities laws, a Preferred Shareholder may 
with respect to any Preferred Shares that are registered in their name, by giving written notice to the 
Company (the “Retraction Notice”), request that the Company purchase the whole or any part of the 
Preferred Shares held by such Preferred Shareholder. Upon receipt by the Company of the Retraction 
Notice, the Preferred Shareholder shall thereafter cease to have any rights with respect to those Shares 
tendered for retraction (other than to receive the retraction payment and the right to receive the pro rata 
share of any distribution thereon, which have accrued up to and including the Retraction Date as defined 
below). Preferred Shares shall be considered to be tendered for redemption on the date that the Company 
has, to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors, received the Retraction Notice. 

Subject to the remaining paragraphs of this Item 5.1, no later than the last business day of the third calendar 
month after the month in which the Retraction Notice is received by the Company (the “Retraction Date”), 
the Company will purchase the Preferred Shares specified in the Retraction Notice.  The price to be paid 
for such Preferred Shares will be the lesser of (i) the amount paid to the Company for such shares and (ii) 
the book value of such shares, in each case plus the pro rata share of any declared but unpaid dividend 
distributions on such Preferred Shares up to the Retraction Date. The book value calculation would be 
based on using the unaudited monthly balance sheet for the month during which the Retraction Notice is 
given. 

The Company will not be required to purchase Preferred Shares for which Retraction Notices are given if: 
(i) purchase of the aggregate number of Preferred Shares subject to the Retraction Notices would result in
the Company having purchased a number of Preferred Shares during the period of time since the start of
the most recent fiscal year which is greater than 35% of the Preferred Shares issued and outstanding (as
at the beginning of the then-current fiscal year during which such Redemption Notices are given); or (ii)
purchase of the aggregate number of Preferred Shares subject to the Retraction Notices given in a calendar
month would result in the Company having purchased a number of Preferred Shares which is greater than
5% of the aggregate Preferred Shares issued and outstanding (as at the beginning of the then-current fiscal
year during which such Redemption Notices are given).

Despite the foregoing limitations, the Board of Directors may, in their sole discretion, waive either or both 
of the aforementioned limitations for any Retraction Date. Absent such waiver(s) such that one or both of 
the foregoing limitations apply, the Company will purchase up to the maximum number of Preferred Shares 
which are subject to Retraction Notices which would not exceed such limitations, pro rata, based on the 
number of Preferred Shares requested to be purchased under a Retraction Notice relative to the total 
number of Preferred Shares requested to be purchased among all unfulfilled Retraction Notices, and any 
Preferred Shares to be purchased pursuant to Retraction Notices subsequently received will be treated as 
part of the same pool of Retraction Notices together with any remaining unfulfilled Retraction Notices in this 
pro rata determination.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be required to fulfill the purchase of Preferred Shares 
pursuant to the Retraction Notices if to do so would cause the Company to cease qualifying as a MIC or 
jeopardize the ability of the Company to maintain reasonable profitability in its portfolio of mortgages.  In 
addition, the BCBCA does not permit the Company to make any payment to purchase, redeem or retract 
any shares (including without limitation any Preferred Shares) if there are reasonable grounds for believing 
that the Company is insolvent or would be insolvent after such payment(s). 

Dividend Reinvestment Plan 

The Company has adopted a DRIP under which holders of Preferred Shares may elect to reinvest cash 
dividends received from such shares to purchase additional Preferred Shares (“Dividend Shares”) at a 
price of $1.00 per share. All registered holders of Preferred Shares are eligible to become participants of 
the DRIP by making a selection under the subscription agreement completed at the time of their initial 
subscription for Preferred Shares or by written request made to the Company at least two business days 
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before a “dividend record date” (which generally occurs on or about the last day of March, June, September 
and December). 

The declaration of dividends is subject to approval by the Board of Directors. At each “dividend payment 
date” (which generally falls on the last business day in March, June, September and December), a 
participating holder of Preferred Shares will be credited with the number of shares of the same class equal 
to the cash dividend payment divided by a price of $1.00 per share. Any fractional shares in the DRIP will 
be held in the DRIP for the benefit of the participant until the next dividend payment date on which a whole 
share may be purchased. All dividends paid on Preferred Shares acquired under the DRIP will be 
automatically reinvested in additional Preferred Shares on each subsequent dividend payment date, in 
accordance with the terms of the DRIP. 

The Company operates a direct registration system that allows its shares to be owned, reported and 
transferred electronically without using a physical share certificate, therefore no physical share certificates 
will be issued in respect of Dividend Shares. 

Pursuant to the DRIP, the Company has the power to make rules and regulations respecting the 
administration of the DRIP, the establishment of Internet-based or other electronic mechanisms for 
enrollment in the DRIP, the communication of information concerning the DRIP and any other aspects of 
the DRIP. The Company reserves the right to regulate and interpret the DRIP as the Company deems 
necessary or desirable, and to amend, suspend or terminate the DRIP at any time, in its sole discretion and 
without providing reasons. If the DRIP is terminated, the Company will provide all participants with written 
notice and certificates registered in their name for all Dividend Shares, together with the cash from the sale 
of any fractions of Dividend Shares. If the DRIP is suspended, subsequent dividends on Dividend Shares 
will be paid in cash. 

A Preferred Shareholder may terminate participation in the DRIP at any time by written notice to the 
Company. If such notice is received at least 30 days before a dividend record date, the termination will be 
effective for the applicable record date, and will otherwise become effective after the next dividend payment 
date. 

DRIP participants whose Preferred Shares are registered in a name other than their own (under a deferred 
income plan or otherwise) may withdraw from the DRIP by making appropriate arrangements with the 
person who holds such shares to withdraw from the DRIP on their behalf. 

Participation in the DRIP is automatically terminated upon the full retraction by a Preferred Shareholder of 
all of its Preferred Shares. 

5.2  Subscription Procedure  

Anyone wishing to subscribe for Preferred Shares must deliver the following to the Company at the address 
shown in the Subscription Agreement:  

(a)  an executed Subscription Agreement and all applicable schedules in the form provided by the 
Company.  Purchasers will be required to make certain representations (including those noted 
below) in the Subscription Agreement, and the Company is entitled to rely on such representations, 
to establish the availability of exemptions from the prospectus requirements under National 
Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”);  

(b)  payment of the full subscription price for the Preferred Shares by way of electronic funds transfer, 
bank draft or other means acceptable to us; and  

(c)  any other information or documents requested by the Company.  

 

In addition to the Subscription Agreement noted above, if the prospective investor is not an Accredited 
Investor as defined in NI 45-106, and in Ontario in the Securities Act (Ontario): 

 
(i) if the prospective investor is purchasing the Preferred Shares as principal and the 

prospective investor is a resident of British Columbia, then the prospective investor must 
execute the Offering Memorandum Risk Acknowledgement in the form attached as 
Schedule “C” – Risk Acknowledgement Form 45-106F4 to the Subscription Agreement; 
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(ii) if the prospective investor is purchasing the Preferred Shares as principal and the 

prospective investor is a resident in Alberta or Ontario then the following shall apply: 
 

(I) if the prospective investor is an individual, the acquisition cost of all securities 
acquired upon reliance on Section 2.9 of NI 45-106 by the prospective investor in 
the preceding twelve (12) months shall not exceed the following amounts: 

 
in the case of a prospective investor that is not an Eligible Investor (as 
defined in NI 45-106), $10,000; 
 
in the case of a prospective investor that is an Eligible Investor, $30,000; 
or 
 
in the case of a prospective investor that is an Eligible Investor and that 
received advice from a portfolio manager, investment dealer or exempt 
market dealer that the investment is suitable, $100,000; 

 
(II) if the prospective investor is an Eligible Investor, the prospective investor must 

complete the Certificate of Eligible Subscriber attached as Schedule “B” to the 
Subscription Agreement and the Eligible Investor Representation Letter in the form 
attached as Appendix 1 to Schedule “B” to the Subscription Agreement (please 
initial as indicated); 
 

(III) the prospective investor must execute the Offering Memorandum Risk 
Acknowledgement in the form attached as Schedule “C” – Risk Acknowledgement 
Form 45-106F4 to the Subscription Agreement; and  
 

(IV) if the prospective investor is an individual, the prospective investor must execute 
Schedule A and Schedule B to the Offering Memorandum Risk Acknowledgement 
in the form attached as Schedule “C” – Risk Acknowledgement Form 45-106F4 to 
the Subscription Agreement. 
 

You should carefully review the terms of the Subscription Agreement accompanying this Offering 
Memorandum for more detailed information concerning the rights and obligations of you and the Company. 
Execution and delivery of the subscription agreement will bind you to the terms thereof, whether executed 
by you or by an agent on your behalf.  You should consult with your own professional advisors.   
 
All subscription funds will be held by the Company in trust, as required by law, for a period of at least two 
business days after the closing of the Preferred Shares to which such subscription funds relate.  
 

Closing will occur as determined by our Board of Directors.  

 
The Company is also not obligated to accept any subscription or to accept subscriptions in the order they 
are received by the Company. Subscriptions may be accepted, in whole or in part, by the Company, subject 
to the terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement. The Company reserves the right to accept or 
reject subscriptions from any investor. The Company also reserves the right to close the subscription books 
at any time, without notice.  
 

Interest will not be payable to an investor for monies received pursuant to the offering prior to acceptance 
of his subscription. If a subscription is rejected, monies received by the Company will be returned forthwith 
to the investor without interest or deduction.  

Generally, the Company does not issue physical share certificates to represent an investor’s Preferred 
Shares. Instead of receiving a physical share certificate, the Preferred Shares are registered in an investor’s 
name and recorded electronically in the Company’s books and records. However, shareholders may 
request a physical share certificate representing any or all of their Preferred Shares. 
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Item 6:   Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility  

6.1  Caution  

You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the income tax consequences that 
apply to you. 

6.2  Description of Income Tax Consequences  

The following information has been prepared with assistance from Leonard Glass of Lawson Lundell LLP. 

This summary is based upon the facts set out in this Offering Memorandum, the current provisions of the 
Income Tax Act and the regulations thereunder, all specific proposals (the "Tax Proposals") to amend the 
Income Tax Act and the regulations thereunder publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of 
Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof and the current published administrative practices of the Canada 
Revenue Agency. This summary assumes that any Tax Proposals will be enacted as currently proposed 
but does not take into account or anticipate any other changes in law whether by legislative, governmental 
or judicial action and does not take into account tax legislation or considerations of any province, territory 
or foreign jurisdiction. 

This summary does not apply to an investor (i) that is a “specified financial institution” (as defined in the 
Income Tax Act) or a “financial institution” (as defined in section 142.2 of the Income Tax Act); (ii) an interest 
in which constitutes a “tax shelter investment” (within the meaning of the Income Tax Act); or (iii) who 
reports its Canadian tax results in a “functional currency” (which excludes Canadian dollars). 

The summary contained in this section is of a general nature only and is not exhaustive of all possible 
Canadian federal income tax considerations. It is not intended to be and should not be interpreted as legal 
or tax advice to any particular individual. Individuals are urged to consult with their own tax advisors 
regarding the income tax considerations to them of acquiring, holding and disposing of the Preferred 
Shares, including the application and effect of the income and other tax laws of any country, province, state 
or local tax authority. 

This summary is based on the assumption that Cambridge will at all times meet certain conditions imposed 
on Cambridge under the Income Tax Act in order to qualify as a MIC thereunder. These conditions will 
generally be satisfied if, throughout a taxation year of Cambridge: 

(i) Cambridge was a Canadian corporation as defined in the Income Tax Act; 

(ii) Cambridge’s only undertaking was the investing of funds and it did no manage or develop any 
real property; 

(iii) no debts were owing to Cambridge that were secured on real property situated outside Canada; 

(iv) no debts were owing to Cambridge by non-residents unless such debts were secured on real 
property situated in Canada; 

(v) Cambridge did not own shares of non-resident corporations; 

(vi) Cambridge did not hold real property, or any leasehold interest in such property, located outside 
of Canada; 

(vii) the cost amount of Cambridge‘s property consisting of debts secured by mortgages on houses 
or on property included within a housing project (as those terms are defined in the National Housing 
Act), together with cash on hand and deposits with a bank or any other corporation whose deposits 
are insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation or with a credit union (collectively, the 
"Qualifying Property") was at least 50% of the cost amount to it all of its property; 

(viii) the cost amount of real property (including leasehold interests therein but excluding real 
property acquired as a consequence of foreclosure or defaults on a mortgage held by Cambridge) 
owned by Cambridge did not exceed 25% of the cost amount to it of all of its property; 

(ix) Cambridge had at least 20 shareholders and no person was a "specified shareholder", meaning 
that no shareholder (or related person) held more than 25% of the shares of any class of Cambridge 
at any time in the taxation year; 
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(x) holders of preferred shares, if any, had a right, after payment to them of their preferred
dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of the Common
Shares, to participate pari passu with the holders of common shares in any further payment of
dividends;

(xi) where at any time in the year the cost amount to Cambridge of its Qualifying Property as defined
in (vii) above was less than two-thirds of the cost amount to it of all of its property, Cambridge's
liabilities did not exceed three times the amount by which the cost amount to it of all of its property
exceeded its liabilities; and

(xii) where the requirement in (xi) is not met in that the cost amount of its Qualifying Property
equaled or was greater than two-thirds of the cost amount of all its property, Cambridge's liabilities
did not exceed five times the amount by which the cost amount to it of all its property exceeded its
liabilities.

If Cambridge were at any time to cease to qualify as a MIC, the income tax considerations would be 
materially different from those described below. 

Tax Payable by Us 

Provided that Cambridge remains a MIC throughout the year, Cambridge will be entitled to deduct the full 
amount of all taxable dividends (other than capital gains dividends) which it pays during the year or within 
90 days after the end of the year to the extent that such dividends were not deductible by Cambridge in 
computing its income for the preceding year.   

As well, a MIC may elect to have a dividend in an amount equal to the gross amount of its capital gains be 
a capital gains dividend and therefore is entitled to deduct a portion of such dividend from its taxable income. 

Subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors, Cambridge intends to declare dividends and capital gains 
dividends each year in sufficient amounts to reduce its taxable income to nil. To the extent that it does not 
do so, Cambridge will be taxed at the highest corporate rates. 

Tax Payable by You 

So long as Cambridge qualifies as a MIC under the Income Tax Act, any dividends, other than a capital 
gains dividend, received from Cambridge by a shareholder will be deemed to be interest income for income 
tax purposes.  Similarly, capital gains dividends will be treated as capital gains to you.  The nature of the 
dividend (that is, whether it is taxed as interest or as a capital gain) depends on how we initially received 
the funds – as interest or a capital gain.  This is the case whether our dividends were paid to you in cash 
or through the issuance of additional Preferred Shares.  The amount of the dividend you receive is based 
on the number of Preferred Shares you own. Each year we will issue a T5 reporting slip to you indicating 
how much of your dividends are income and how much are capital gains.  

Redeeming Shares 

If you redeem your Preferred Shares you will generally receive $1.00 per Share redeemed.  If, however, 
we do not have sufficient funds to pay such amount you may receive less than $1.00 per share in which 
case you will realize a capital loss.  Since we intend to annually pay out all of our profits as dividends it is 
unlikely you will receive more than $1.00 per Preferred Share redeemed.  

In general, the capital loss will be equal to the difference between the amount you receive on the redemption 
(less any costs of the redemption) and the adjusted cost base (“ACB”) of the shares (which is calculated in 
accordance with the requirements set out in the Income Tax Act).  Capital losses may be applied (depending 
on your circumstances) to capital gains to reduce your overall tax payable.  We will provide you with details 
on the proceeds from your redemption of our shares.  However, in order to calculate your capital loss, you 
need to know the ACB of your shares before the redemption.  

Please note that the considerations mentioned in 6.2 Description of Income Tax Consequences should 
not be considered tax opinion and as such Leonard Glass of Lawson Lundell LLP or the Company is not 
responsible for any adverse consequences. 
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6.3  Eligibility for RRSPs and Other Plans 

Not all securities  are eligible for investment in a registered retirement savings plan (RRSP). You 
should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the RRSP eligibility of these 
securities. 

The Preferred Shares will be qualified investments for a trust governed by a Registered Retirement Savings 
Plan (“RRSP”), Registered Retirement Income Fund (“RRIF”), Deferred Profit Share Plan (“DPSP”), 
Registered Education Savings Plan (“RESP”) or Tax Free Savings Account (“TFSA”) (each, a “Registered 
Plan”) at a particular time if Cambridge qualifies as a MIC under the Income Tax Act at such particular time 
and if throughout the calendar year in which the particular time occurs, Cambridge does not hold as part of 
its property any indebtedness, whether by way of mortgage or otherwise, of a person who is an annuitant 
under the particular plan or of any other person who does not deal at arm's length with that person.  If the 
Preferred Shares cease to be a qualified investment for a Registered Plan, the Registered Plan will be 
subject to a penalty tax. 

Notwithstanding that the Preferred Shares may be qualified investments for a trust governed by an RRSP, 
RRIF or TFSA, the annuitant of an RRSP or RRIF, or the holder of a TFSA, will be subject to a penalty tax 
if such securities are a “prohibited investment” for the RRSP, RRIF or TFSA. The Preferred Shares will 
generally be a “prohibited investment” if the annuitant of an RRSP or RRIF, or the holder of a TFSA, does 
not deal at arm’s length with Cambridge for purposes of the Income Tax Act or the annuitant of an RRSP 
or RRIF, or the holder of the TFSA, has a “significant interest” (within the meaning of the Income Tax Act) 
in Cambridge or a corporation, partnership or trust with which Cambridge does not deal at arm’s length for 
purposes of the Income Tax Act. A “significant interest” in a corporation generally means ownership of 10% 
or more of the issued shares of any class of the capital stock of the corporation (or of any related 
corporation), either alone or together with persons with which the shareholder does not deal at arm’s length 
for purposes of the Income Tax Act. The above information has been prepared with assistance from 
Jonathon Cowan.  

Item 7: Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders 

The Company plans to sell the Preferred Shares primarily through CCM, an exempt market dealer 
registered in British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario.  CCM will receive (i) from the Manager, a Processing 
Fee equal to maximum of 2.5% of the 1.5% management fee charged by Peet & Cowan to the Company, 
paid as Peet & Cowan and CCM may from time to time agree, and (ii) from the Company on behalf of 
the investor and deducted from dividend payable to applicable investors, a quarterly Trailer Fee of up to 
1% of  the aggregate investor capital retained by the Company as at the end of the preceding quarter, 
payable on or about the 10th day of each of April, July, October and January, or such other date as the 
Company and CCM may from time to time agree. Additionally, Peet & Cowan will, at its own cost and at 
no cost to CCM, allocate a portion of its offices for use by CCM, and provide CCM with accounting and 
administrative support and all office furnishings, systems, equipment, communication and IT support 
reasonably required by CCM, in the performance of the services provided under the Dealer Services 
Agreement. 

The commissions payable to CCM in connection with this offering on behalf of the investor and deducted 
from the dividend payable to applicable investors, will represent up to 1% of gross proceeds of the 
Preferred Shares sold by CCM under the offering, per year calculated for each quarter such Preferred 
Shares are retained by the subscribers. CCM will pay 100% of this Trailer Fee, as a bonus, to its dealing 
representatives who represent the respective investors. No other registered dealer, unregistered agent or 
finder has been appointed by the Company or Peet & Cowan. The Company may from time to time enter 
into agreements with third party registered dealers, who will be paid fees to bring investors to the 
Company. There is no minimum offering. Assuming the maximum offering and assuming all of the 
Preferred Shares sold in this offering will be sold through CCM, a commission equal to a maximum of 
$500,000, representing up to 1% of the gross proceeds of the Preferred Shares sold in the offering, 
will be received by CCM, per year calculated for each quarter such Preferred Shares are retained by the 
subscribers under this offering.  

Fees may be payable on Preferred Shares issued under the DRIP.  

The Company is a “connected issuer” and a “related issuer” of CCM, as such terms are defined in NI 
33-105. The Company has determined that it is a connected issuer and a related issuer of CCM by virtue 
of
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CCM’s role as an exempt market dealer engaged to sell the Preferred Shares offered hereby and based 
on the fact that the Company and CCM have common securityholders, directors and officers. See Item 8 
“Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”. 

In addition to the shares distributed through CCM, the Company and Peet & Cowan may engage other 
registered investment (IIROC) dealers to sell the Preferred Shares who may charge an additional fee as 
applicable. 

Item 8:  Risk Factors  

Ukraine and Global Economy 

While Canada supplies some of the same products as Russia and could benefit from ongoing sanctions, 
an increase in demand could result in commodity and food price hikes.  An increase in consumer prices, 
disruption in shipping and supply lines, increase in aid, both at home and away, along with the rising cost 
of fuel could increase inflation. To combat the same, lending rates could rise which would affect credit 
ratings and decrease fair market values of real estate leading to potential increase in counterparty risk. 

Ongoing Trade Negotiations and Tariffs 
There is uncertainty surrounding tariffs and re-negotiation of The Canada-United States-Mexico 
Agreement (CUSMA) which could impact future manufacturing, exports and imports. Disruption to imports 
could affect supplies resulting in potential increase in cost of fuel and consumables. Such inflation may 
increase lending rates and increase variability in real estate values. Additionally, revisions of tariffs with 
China could amplify this impact. 

Nature of a Mortgage Investment Company 

When you invest in a MIC you do so by buying its shares.  The MIC then invests the money raised from 
you and a group of investors with similar investment objectives in mortgages that are professionally 
managed by the MIC’s investment manager.  

As a result, when you buy shares of a MIC you are indirectly buying these underlying mortgages.  The value 
of your investment is determined by the performance of these underlying mortgages so you and the 
investors in the MIC share in any gains or losses generated by the MIC from these mortgages.  

Generally, you can sell your Preferred Shares back to the MIC (in other words, the MIC will redeem your 
shares) in order to take your money out of the MIC.  When you sell your shares back to the MIC, the value 
of your original investment may have increased or decreased.  

How Risk Is Related To Return 

Generally, there is a strong relationship between the amount of risk associated with a particular investment, 
and that investment’s long-term potential to increase in value.  

Investments that have a lower risk also tend to have lower returns because factors that can affect the value 
of the investment, the risks, are well know or are well controlled and have already been worked into the 
price of the investment.  On the other hand, investments that could have potentially higher returns if 
conditions for success are favourable also risk generating equally higher losses if conditions become 
unfavourable.  This is because the factors affecting the value of such investments are unknown or difficult 
to control.  

What Are The Risks of Investing In MICs? 

Like any investment, there are risks associated with investing in MICs.  Below we explain the specific risks 
that can apply to us.  

Your Investment is Not Guaranteed:  Unlike guaranteed investment certificates (GICs) or money you have 
deposited in a bank account, your investment in a MIC is not guaranteed by the Canada Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, by any other government insurer or by us.  
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Your Investment will Fluctuate in Value:  The value of a MIC’s underlying investments changes from day to 
day, which in turn affects the value of the MIC. Some of the factors that can affect the value of a MIC’s 
investments include:  

(i) current economic conditions;

(ii) changes in interest rates;

(iii) events in financial markets; and

(iv) financial conditions of the borrowers to which the MIC has advanced funds.

As a result of the changing value of the underlying mortgages, the value of your investment in a MIC can 
go up or down over time, and there is no guarantee that when you sell or redeem your shares in the MIC 
they will be worth the price you paid for them.  

Fluctuations in the Residential Real Estate Market:  The primary security component of a MIC is the 
underlying value of the residential real estate granted as mortgage security to a MIC by borrowers.  The 
fair market value of residential real estate fluctuates from time to time.  In order to mitigate this risk as much 
as possible, we continually monitor the residential real estate market and its forecasts and adjust our 
underwriting criteria to take into account fluctuations in the fair market value of real estate. 

Your Investment is Subject to Changes in Interest Rates:  MICs are subject to interest rate risk.  The majority 
of our mortgage investments earn a variable rate of interest.  When interest rates rise, the risk associated 
with existing investments in mortgages could increase resulting from higher mortgage payments and 
potential payment deferrals.   

Our Borrowers are or may become a Bad Credit Risk: When you invest in a MIC you are essentially making 
a loan to the borrower (usually a homeowner) or the business borrowing the money.  The risk is that they 
may not be able or refuse to pay back this loan when it becomes due.  

While we believe our lending policy is conservative and minimal losses are anticipated, if a loss does occur 
it will be spread over all of our capital.  Such losses could amount to a reduction in anticipated return or 
investment or in the worst circumstances result in an investor losing their entire investment or failing to 
receive return their investment as expected.  

We Might be Unable to Redeem Your Shares:  Under exceptional circumstances, we may suspend your 
right to redeem your Preferred Shares, for example, if the redemption would render us insolvent or if it 
would cause us not to meet the requirements for a MIC under the Income Tax Act.  

Our Shares are Subject to Restrictions on Resale:  There is no market for the Preferred Shares, the 
Preferred Shares are not traded on any stock exchange and they may not be resold by Preferred 
Shareholders to third parties. Therefore, you cannot liquidate your investment through selling your Preferred 
Shares.  See item 10 “Resale Restrictions”. 

Conflicts of Interest 

There are conflicts of interests among Peet & Cowan, CCM and the Company. 

As certain of the directors and officers of the Company are also directors, officers or shareholders of Peet 
& Cowan and CCM, there may be conflicts of interest if the interests of these companies are inconsistent. 
All decisions to be made by the directors and officers of the Company involving the Company are required 
by law to be made in accordance with their duties and obligations to act honestly and in good faith with a 
view to the best interests of the Company. In addition, those directors and officers are required to declare 
their interests in, and such directors are required to refrain from voting on, any matter in which they may 
have a material conflict of interest. Provided that they so act, interested directors will not be required to 
account to the Company for profits earned by such other entities. 
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Peet & Cowan 

The Company is entitled to terminate or vary the terms of the Management Agreement. Due to the common 
mind and management of the Company and Peet & Cowan, it may be difficult for some of the directors of 
the Company to exercise independent judgment about this and other matters. 

Peet & Cowan has conflicts of interest relating to the Company as a result of the fact that the economic 
success of Peet & Cowan is tied solely to the management of related parties and its only source of revenue 
is management services fees from such related parties and which is not tied to the financial performance 
of the entities.  

CCM 

The Company is a “connected issuer” and a “related issuer” of CCM, as such terms are defined in NI 33-
105. The Company has determined that it is a connected issuer and a related issuer of CCM by virtue of 
CCM’s role as an exempt market dealer engaged to sell the Preferred Shares offered hereby, on a non-
exclusive basis, and based on the fact that CCM and the Company have common securityholders, directors 
and officers. Additionally, CCM is considered a “captive dealer” as defined by CSA Staff Notice 31-343 
because it solely or primarily distributes securities of related or connected issuers.  

CCM’s relationship with the Company and Peet & Cowan may cause CCM to perform due diligence on the 
securities offered hereby with a less independent view, and CCM may be considered to have an added 
incentive to sell the securities under this offering. The judgement of CCM’s dealer representatives, 
management and supervisory staff may be considered to be affected by these relationships. In light of the 
conflicts of interest, CCM has adopted policies and procedures for assessing a purchase as suitable for a 
client and for identifying and responding to conflicts of interest by avoiding, controlling or disclosing conflicts 
of interest.  

As disclosed in this Offering Memorandum, the subscription proceeds from this offering will not be applied 
for the benefit of CCM or its related issuers except: (a) that the Company will transfer to CCM on behalf of 
the investor and deducted from dividends payable to applicable investors, quarterly Trailer Fees of up to 
1% of gross proceeds of the Preferred Shares sold by CCM under the offering, per year calculated for each 
quarter such Preferred Shares are retained by the subscribers, as outlined in Item 7 “Compensation Paid 
to Sellers and Finders”; and (b) the subscription proceeds may be used to pay the management services 
fee charged by Peet & Cowan to the Company under the Management Agreement (also see Item 2.2 “Other 
Business – Management of Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation”).  

Access to Client Assets: Due to the common mind and management of the Company, Peet & Cowan and 
CCM and the fact that certain registered personnel of CCM are authorized signatories of Peet & Cowan 
and the Company, certain of CCM’s registered personnel have access to client assets. Specifically, certain 
of CCM’s registered personnel have access to client cash in the bank account of the Company, to the books 
and records of the Company’s securityholders, and to the Company’s mortgage investments. Granting CCM 
access to our shareholders’ assets, even in limited circumstances, exposes our shareholders to potential 
risk of loss: (i) if there is a breakdown in CCM’s information technology systems; or (ii) due to fraud, willful 
or reckless misconduct, negligence, or error of CCM’s personnel who have access. To reduce the risk of 
loss, CCM provides disclosure to investors with respect to such risk and Peet & Cowan and CCM have 
strict operational controls. In addition, CCM is required under securities laws to insure against the risk of 
loss from any access CCM may have to our shareholders’ assets.  

Cyber Security: The information and technology systems of the Company, Peet & Cowan, CCM, and the 
Company’s other service providers may be vulnerable to damage or interruption from computer viruses, 
network failures, computer and telecommunication failures, infiltration by unauthorized persons and security 
breaches, usage errors by their respective professionals, power outages and catastrophic events such as 
fires, tornadoes, floods, hurricanes and earthquakes. Although the Company has implemented, and Peet 
& Cowan may maintain, various measures to manage risks relating to these types of events, if these 
systems are compromised, become inoperable for extended periods of time or cease to function properly, 
the Company and/or Peet & Cowan may have to make a significant investment to fix or replace them. The 
failure of these systems and/or of disaster recovery plans for any reason could cause significant 
interruptions in the Company’s and Peet & Cowan’s operations and result in a failure to maintain the 
security, confidentiality or privacy of sensitive data, including personal information relating to investors (and 
the beneficial owners of investors). Such a failure could harm the Company’s and/or Peet & Cowan’s 
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reputation, subject any such entity and their respective affiliates to legal claims and otherwise affect their 
business and financial performance. Furthermore, the Company cannot control the cyber security plans 
and systems of Peet & Cowan, CCM and service providers. 

The Loss of our Investment Manager could Adversely Affect Our Business:  We rely solely on our 
Investment Manager to review suitable investments for us.  The loss of our Investment Manager would 
require us to retain another manager to perform such services at a possibly higher cost to us and with less 
successful investments than our current Investment Manager.  This would have a material adverse effect 
on the rate of return obtained on our capital and, therefore, on the value of your investment in our Preferred 
Shares.  

A Change in Tax Legislation could Adversely Affect Our Business:  We have been created to comply with 
the MIC requirements of the Income Tax Act.  Our Preferred Shares are intended to appeal to individuals 
having Registered Plans such as RRSPs, RRIFs, TFSAs and RESPs.  While it is not anticipated the Income 
Tax Act as it pertains to such registered-funds will change, there is always the possibility that it could be 
altered so that the Preferred Shares would no longer be eligible investments for such funds. Such changes 
could have an adverse effect on your investment.  

We intend our business to be operated so that it complies at all times with the current requirements for 
MICs under the Income Tax Act. Failure to meet such requirements could have a material adverse effect 
on our financial performance.  

The provisions of the Income Tax Act could be changed so that our profits could be taxable in our, rather 
than your, hands. This could affect the value of your investment, especially if you own our Preferred Shares 
in a Registered Plan.  

Risk of Dealing with Trustees:  We will deal with the trustees of Registered Plans as necessary but we will 
not undertake any responsibility for the administration of any self-directed registered funds by trustees.  The 
trust company of your registered fund may impose conditions upon us with which we are unable or unwilling 
to comply.  As a result, your trustee may refuse to allow our Preferred Shares to be an eligible investment 
for your Registered Fund.  

Estimates and Assumptions:  Preparation of our financial statements requires us to use estimates and 
assumptions.  Accounting for estimates requires us to use our judgment to determine the amount to be 
recorded on our financial statements in connection with these estimates.  If the estimates and assumptions 
are inaccurate, we could be required to write down our recorded values.  On an ongoing basis, we re-
evaluate our estimates and assumptions.  However, the actual amounts could differ from those based on 
estimates and assumptions. 

Item 9:  Reporting Obligations  

9.1  Continuous Reporting Documents  

The BCBCA governs how we conduct our corporate affairs (as opposed to our business affairs).  

The BCBCA requires us to provide our shareholders with audited financial statements for each financial 
year. The statements must be sent to the holders of our Common Shares (the “Common Shareholders”) 
in connection with our annual general meeting of Common Shareholders held in the fall of each year.  All 
shareholders are welcome to view the audited financial statements on request.  We also provide all of 
holders of our Preferred Shares quarterly reports reporting on our ongoing business.  

From time to time, we may send out on our own accord, or in response to a request from one or more 
shareholders, further information to all shareholders such as a reporting letter and interim financial 
statements. 

We are not required to send you any documents on an annual or ongoing basis. 
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The Company is not a “reporting issuer” or equivalent under the securities legislation of any 
jurisdiction.  Accordingly, the Company is not subject to the continuous disclosure requirements 
of any securities legislation and there is therefore no requirement that the Company make annual 
ongoing disclosure of its affairs including, without limitation, the disclosure of financial information 
on a quarterly basis or the disclosure of material changes in the business or affairs of the Company. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will report to Preferred Shareholders on the following basis: 

a) In Alberta, the Company must, within 120 days after the end of each of its financial years, 
file with the securities regulatory authority audited annual financial statements and make 
them reasonably available to each Preferred Shareholder resident in Alberta who acquired 
Preferred Shares under this Offering Memorandum. 
 

b) In Ontario, the Company must, within 120 days after the end of each of its financial years, 
deliver audited annual financial statements to the securities regulatory authority and make 
them reasonably available to each Preferred Shareholder resident in Ontario who acquired 
Preferred Shares under this Offering Memorandum. 

Such financial statements must be provided until the earlier of the date that the Company becomes 
a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction in Canada or the Company ceases to carry on business.  The 
financial statements must be accompanied by a notice of use of proceeds of the Company 
disclosing in reasonable detail the use of the aggregate gross proceeds raised by the Company for 
the most recently completed financial year.  The notice of use of proceeds is not required to be filed 
if there is no obligation to file annual audited financial statements or the closing unused proceeds 
balance from prior notices and proceeds raised in the most recently completed financial year is 
$Nil. 

The audited annual financial statements must include: (a) a statement of comprehensive income, 
a statement of changes in equity, and a statement of cash flows for the most recently completed 
financial year, and the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed financial 
year, if any; (b) a statement of financial position as at the end of each of the periods referred to in 
paragraph (a); (c) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the 
beginning of the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed financial year: 
(i) the issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an unreserved statement of compliance 
with IFRS, and (ii) the issuer applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual financial 
statements, makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual financial statements, or 
reclassifies items in its annual financial statements; (d) in the case of the issuer’s first IFRS financial 
statements, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS; and 
(e) notes to the annual financial statements. 

c) In Ontario, the Company must make reasonably available to each subscriber resident in 
Ontario who has acquired Preferred Shares under this Offering Memorandum, a notice of 
each of the following events within ten (10) days of the occurrence of the event:  
 

(i) a discontinuance of the Company’s business;  
(ii) a change in the Company’s industry; or  
(iii) a change of control of the Company.  

Financial statements or other information relating to the Company and provided to you in the future may 
not by itself be sufficient for your needs to enable you to prepare your income tax returns or to assess the 
performance of your investment.  The Company will comply with all other reporting and administrative 
requirements, including the reporting requirements contained in NI 45-106. 
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9.2  Access to Information about Us  

Since our Preferred Shares are not publicly traded, no corporate or securities information is available from 
a government, regulatory authority, stock exchange or quotation and trade reporting system.  However, 
information is available from us at the phone and fax numbers and e-mail address set out on the front cover.  

Item 10:  Resale Restrictions  

10.1  Overview  

These Preferred Shares will be subject to a number of resale restrictions, including a restriction on trading. 
Until the restriction on trading expires, you will not be able to trade the securities unless you comply with 
an exemption from the prospectus and registration requirements under securities legislation.  

10.2  Description of Restricted Period  

Unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the Preferred Shares before the date that is 
four months and a day after the date Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation becomes a reporting 
issuer in any province or territory of Canada.  

Currently we do not have any intention to become a reporting issuer in any Canadian province or territory 
or a SEDAR (the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval established by the Canadian 
Securities Administrators for reporting (public) companies in Canada) filer.  

Item 11:  Purchasers’ Rights  

If you purchase these securities you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For 
information about your rights you should consult a lawyer.  

1.  Two Day Cancellation Right  

You can cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. To do so, you must send a notice to us by 
midnight on the second business day after you sign the agreement to buy the securities.  

2. Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation  

Statutory Rights of Action  

For purposes of the following summaries, “misrepresentation” means an untrue statement of a material 
fact or an omission to state a material fact that is necessary in order to make a statement not misleading in 
light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

The summary below is not a complete description of such right or the limitations applicable thereto 
and reference should be made to the securities law of the jurisdiction where the prospective 
investor is resident for the complete text of such right. Such law is subject to varying interpretation.  
Prospective investors should obtain legal advice to determine any rights that are available to the 
prospective investor, including in relation to the rights referred to below.    

British Columbia  

Section 132.1 of the Securities Act (British Columbia) provides that if an offering memorandum, such as 
this Offering Memorandum, together with any amendment hereto, is delivered to a purchaser resident in 
British Columbia who purchases Preferred Shares in reliance on the “offering memorandum” prospectus 
exemption set out in section 2.9 of National Instrument 45-106 and contains a misrepresentation and it was 
a misrepresentation at the time of purchase, the purchaser will be deemed to have relied upon the 
misrepresentation and will have a right of action against the Company for rescission against the Company, 
provided that:  

(a)  no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:  

(i)  for rescission more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or  

(ii)  for damages more than the earlier of (i) 180 days after the purchaser first had knowledge of 
the facts giving rise to the cause of action, or (ii) three years after the date of purchase;  
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(b)  no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased 
the Preferred Shares with knowledge of the misrepresentation;  

(c)  no person or company (but excluding the Company) will be liable if the person or company proves 
that (i) the offering memorandum was delivered to the purchaser without the person’s or company’s 
knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person or company gave 
written notice to the Company that it was delivered without the person’s or company’s knowledge 
or consent, (ii) on becoming aware of any misrepresentation in the offering memorandum, the 
person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the offering memorandum and 
gave written notice to the Company of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or (iii) with respect to 
any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority of an expert or to be 
a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an expert, the person or 
company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that there had been a 
misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the offering memorandum did not fairly represent the 
report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, 
opinion or statement of the expert;  

(d)  no person or company (but excluding the Company) will be liable with respect to any part of the 
offering memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or to be a copy of, 
or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of expert unless the person or company failed to 
conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been 
no misrepresentation, or believed that there had been a misrepresentation;  

(e)  no person is liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if the person proves that 
(i) the offering memorandum containing the forward-looking information contained, proximate to 
that information, reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as 
such, and identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a 
conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of the material 
factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection 
set out in the forward-looking information, and (ii) the person had a reasonable basis for drawing 
the conclusions or making the forecasts and projections set out in the forward-looking information;  

(f)  in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that 
the defendant proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the Preferred Shares as a 
result of the misrepresentation; and  

(g)  in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Preferred Shares were sold 
to the purchaser. 

 

Ontario  

In accordance with the Securities Act (Ontario) (the “Ontario Act”), if this Offering Memorandum contains 
a misrepresentation (as defined in the Ontario Act), a subscriber who purchases Preferred Shares offered 
by this Offering Memorandum is deemed to have relied on the representation if it was a misrepresentation 
at the time of purchase, and the subscriber has: (a) a right of action for damages against the Company and 
every person or company who signed this Offering Memorandum; or (b) a right of rescission against the 
Company.  If the Subscriber chooses to exercise a right of rescission against the Company, the subscriber 
has no right of action for damages against a person or company referred to above. 

The amount recoverable shall not exceed the price at which the Preferred Shares were offered under this 
Offering Memorandum. In an action for damages, the defendant is not liable for all or any part of the 
damages that the defendant proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Preferred Shares as 
a result of the misrepresentation. 

No action may be commenced to enforce a right: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, more than 180 days after the day of the transaction 
that gave rise to the cause of action; or 
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(b) in any other case, more than the earlier of,
(i) 180 days after the day that the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving

rise to the cause of action; or
(ii) two years after the day of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.

The foregoing summary is subject to the express provisions of the securities legislation referred to above 
and the rules, regulations and other instruments thereunder, and reference is made to the complete text of 
such provisions. Such provisions may contain limitations and statutory defences on which the Company 
may rely. 

The statutory rights of action discussed above are in addition to, and without derogation from, any other 
right or remedy which a prospective investor may have at law. 

In Alberta and Ontario, the foregoing rights shall apply to all of the information in any of the OM marketing 
materials, which are deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Offering Memorandum. 

Alberta 

A prospective investor of Preferred Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum who is a resident in 
Alberta has, in addition to any other rights the prospective investor may have at law, a right of action for 
damages or rescission against the Company if this Offering Memorandum, together with any amendments 
hereto, contains a misrepresentation.  A prospective investor has additional statutory rights of action for 
damages against every person who signed this Offering Memorandum. 

If this Offering Memorandum contains a misrepresentation, which was a misrepresentation at the time the 
Preferred Shares were purchased, the prospective investor will be deemed to have relied upon the 
misrepresentation  and will, as provided below, have a right of action against the Company for damages or 
alternatively, while still the owner of any of the Preferred Shares purchased by that prospective investor, 
for rescission, in which case, if the prospective investor elects to exercise the right of rescission, the 
prospective investor will have no right of action for damages against the Company, provided that: 

(a) no person will be liable if it proves that the prospective investor purchased the securities
with knowledge of the misrepresentation;

(b) in the case of an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion
of the damages that it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the securities
as a result of the misrepresentation;

(c) in no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the securities
were purchased by the subscriber under this Offering Memorandum; and

(d) in the case of a prospective investor resident in Alberta, no person, other than the
Company, will be liable if such person is entitled to rely upon certain statutory provisions
set out in subsections 204(3)(a) – (e) of the Securities Act (Alberta).

No action may be commenced: 

(e) in the case of an action for rescission, more than 180 days after the date of the transaction
that gave rise to the cause of action; or

(f) in the case of any other action, other than an action for rescission, more than the earlier of
(i) 180 days after the prospective investor first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the
cause of action; or (ii) three (3) years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the
cause of action.

Item 12: Financial Statements 

Following are our audited annual financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 
2024 and the auditor’s reports thereon. 



Financial Statements of 

CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE 
INVESTMENT CORPORATION 

And Independent Auditor’s Report thereon 

Year ended December 31, 2024 



KPMG LLP  
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
Telephone 604 691 3000 
Fax 604 691 3031 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation (the Entity), 
which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024

 the statement of income and comprehensive income for the year then ended

 the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.   
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue
as a going concern.
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 
April 16, 2025 
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CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

2024 2023

Assets 

Cash $ 1,143 $ 518

Mortgages receivable (note 4) 316,974,928 318,206,494 

Total assets $ 316,976,071 $ 318,207,012 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 

Liabilities: 
Loan (note 5) $ 24,789,098 $ 73,577,472 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7) 527,703 578,339 
Deferred revenue 1,790,481 2,411,090 

27,107,282 76,566,901 

Shareholders’ equity: 
Redeemable preferred shares – Class B (note 6) 275,497,059 241,640,107 
Redeemable preferred shares – Class C (note 6) 14,371,726 - 
Common shares (note 6)   4 4 

289,868,789 241,640,111

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 316,976,071 $ 318,207,012 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Approved:  
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CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income  
 
Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 

  2024 2023 
 
Interest income $ 34,990,466 $ 29,870,471 
Interest expense (4,213,253) (2,575,276) 
 
Net interest income 30,777,213 27,295,195 
 
Fee and commission income 7,537,334 7,669,466 
Fee and commission expense (note 7(a)) (5,299,945) (5,092,584)  
 
Net fee and commission income 2,237,389 2,576,882 
 
Other income 12,713 64,304 
 
Income before provision for mortgage losses 33,027,315 29,936,381 
 
Provision for mortgage losses (note 4(b)) (44,086) (2,200,295) 
 
Operating income 32,983,229 27,736,086 
 
Operating expenses: 

General and administrative 309,131 666,003 
Management fees (note 7(b)) 4,777,372 4,167,316 
Professional fees 152,855 212,862 
  5,239,358 5,046,181 

 
Net income before distributions to redeemable  

preferred shareholders 27,743,871 22,689,905 
 
Distributions to redeemable preferred shareholders before  

reclassification of redeemable preferred shares (note 6(a)) - 16,508,860 
 
Net income and comprehensive income for the year $ 27,743,871 $ 6,181,045 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

Redeemable Redeemable
preferred shares preferred shares Common Retained 

- Class B - Class C shares earnings Total 

Balance at December 31, 2022      $  - $ - $ 4 $ - $ 4 

Net income and comprehensive 
income for the year - - - 6,181,045 6,181,045 

Dividends to shareholders (note 6(d)) - - - (6,181,045) (6,181,045) 

Reclassified from liabilities (note 6)  243,511,613 - - - 243,511,613 

Issuance of shares 3,701,207 - - - 3,701,207 

Redemption of shares (7,892,176) - - - (7,892,176) 

Reinvestment of dividends 2,319,463 - - - 2,319,463 

Balance at December 31, 2023 241,640,107 - 4 - 241,640,111

Net income and comprehensive 
income for the year - - - 27,743,871 27,743,871

Dividends to shareholders (note 6(c)) - - - (27,743,871) (27,743,871)

Issuance of shares 45,989,291 14,275,001 - - 60,264,292 

Redemption of shares     (22,376,854) - - - (22,376,854) 

Reinvestment of dividends 10,244,515 96,725 - - 10,341,240 

Balance at December 31, 2024 $  275,497,059 $ 14,371,726 $ 4 $ - $ 289,868,789

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

2024 2023

Cash provided by (used in): 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income and comprehensive income for the year $ 27,743,871 $ 6,181,045 
Adjustments for: 

Interest income (34,990,466) (29,870,471) 
Interest expense 4,213,253 2,575,276 
Distributions to redeemable preferred shareholders before 

reclassification of redeemable preferred shares (note 6(c)) - 16,508,860
(3,033,342) (4,605,290) 

Gross change in mortgages receivable 2,037,271 (82,538,656) 
Change in provision for mortgage losses (note 4(b)) 35,979 2,200,295 
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (50,636) (316,518) 
Change in deferred revenue (620,609) 1,023,932 

1,402,005 (79,630,947) 

Interest received 34,148,782 28,843,082 
Interest paid (4,213,253) (2,575,276) 
Net cash generated by (used in) operating activities 28,304,192 (57,968,431) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Borrowings from (repayment of) loan  (48,788,374) 72,223,283 
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable preferred shares 60,264,292 35,549,963 
Payments of cash distributions and  

dividends (notes 6(c) and (d)) (17,402,631) (14,644,230) 
Payments on redemption of redeemable preferred shares (22,376,854) (35,160,465) 
Net cash generated by (used in) financing activities (28,303,567) 57,968,551 

Net increase in cash  625 120 

Cash, beginning of year 518 398 

Cash, end of year $ 1,143 $ 518 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 



CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024 
 

 

5 

1. Reporting entity: 

Cambridge Mortgage Investment Corporation (the “Company”) is a private company incorporated 

on February 19, 2007 pursuant to the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada. The 

Company also registered as an extra provincial Company in the Province of Ontario on 

February 19, 2007, the Province of Alberta on December 1, 2009 and the Province of Nova Scotia 

on September 28, 2023. The Company is domiciled in Canada and its head office is located at 

Suite 201 - 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia.  

The objective of the Company is to originate and manage long-term income generation through a 

portfolio of interests in mortgages underwritten on real property. The Company makes investments 

and operates its business in such a manner as to qualify as a mortgage investment corporation 

(“MIC”) under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and, as such, is able to make distributions to its 

shareholders on a pre-tax basis. 
 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards. The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial 

statements are set out in note 3. The financial statements were authorized for issue by the 

Manager of the Company (see note 7(b)) on April 16, 2025.  

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These financial statements are expressed in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 

functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards 

requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 

application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 

any future periods affected. 

Estimates and assumptions subject to significant estimation uncertainty and critical judgments 

in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized 

in the financial statements relate to the measurement of expected credit losses (note 3(f) and 

note 4). 
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3. Material accounting policies and changes in material accounting policies: 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these financial statements, except as otherwise noted. 

(a) Revenue recognition: 

(i) Interest income: 

Interest income, for all interest-bearing financial instruments, is recognized using the 

effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the 

estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset (or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset. When 

calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates future cash flows considering 

all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 

The calculation of the effective interest method includes all fees and costs paid or received 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a financial asset. 

Interest income presented in the statement of income and comprehensive income 

represents interest on mortgages receivable measured at amortized cost, calculated on an 

effective interest basis. 

(ii) Fees and commission: 

Fees and commission income and expense are recognized using the effective interest 

method when such fees and commissions are integral to the effective interest rate on the 

related financial instrument. 

Other fees and commission income and expense, including pre-payment fees and other 

miscellaneous fees are recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied. 

(b) Income taxes: 

It is the intention of the Company to qualify as a MIC for Canadian income tax purposes. Actual 

qualification as a MIC will depend upon meeting the various conditions necessary for 

qualification as a MIC under the Income Tax Act (Canada) throughout the year. Management 

believes that all conditions necessary for qualification as a MIC have been met in the current 

and all previous reporting periods. A MIC is a special purpose corporation defined under 

Section 130.1 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and is generally able to deduct in computing its 

income for a taxation year, the amount of income for that year and amounts that within 90 days 

of year end are distributed to its shareholders. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 

using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustments to 

tax payable in respect of previous years. 
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3. Material accounting policies and changes in material accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Income taxes (continued): 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 

purposes. Deferred tax is measured at tax rates that are expected to be applied to the 

temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities offset if there is 

a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against current tax assets, and they 

relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 

different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or 

their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available against 

which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

(c) Financial assets: 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement: 

All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Company 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, the 

Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 

not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value 

through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement: 

The Company classifies its financial assets between those to be measured subsequently 

at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss), and 

those to be measured at amortized cost. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the 

Company changes its business model for managing financial assets in which case all 

affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 

following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset that is a debt instrument is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of 

the following conditions and is not designated as at fair value through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”): 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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3. Material accounting policies and changes in material accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Financial assets (continued): 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued): 

A debt investment is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

(“FVOCI”) if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 

above are measured at FVTPL. 

Cash and mortgages receivable are classified as financial assets at amortized cost, which 

is consistent with the Company’s business model of holding to collect the contractual cash 

flows and the contractual terms giving rise to solely payments of principal and interest. 

Mortgages receivable are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by expected credit losses. Interest income 

and provision for mortgage losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 

derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 

(d) Financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are classified as amortized cost or 

FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a 

derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition.  

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including 

any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss.  

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. Interest expense is recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 

derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 

The Company classifies loan, accounts payable and accrued liabilities as financial liabilities 

measured at amortized cost. 

The interest charged on the loan is dependent on the bank prime rate or the Canadian 

Overnight Repo Rate Average (“CORRA”) or a combination thereof, as chosen by the 

management.  
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3. Material accounting policies and changes in material accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Share capital: 

(i) Common shares: 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 

of common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

(ii) Redeemable preferred shares (also referred to as ‘Preferred shares’): 

Redeemable preferred shares have been reclassified as equity pursuant to the shareholder 

vote conducted on 23rd October 2023 (note 6(a)). 

(iii) Distributions and dividends: 

Distributions on redeemable preferred shares that are classified as liabilities are 

recognized in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. 

Dividends on shares that are classified as equity instruments are recognised directly in 

equity.  

A liability for distributions payable or dividends payable is not recognised until the Company 

has an obligation to pay distributions or dividends, which occurs when distributions or 

dividends are declared and authorized by the Directors of the Company.  

(f) Provision for mortgage losses: 

The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on its mortgages 

receivable. ECL represents credit losses that reflect an unbiased and probability-weighted 

amount which is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value of 

money and reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions and 

forecasts of future economic conditions.  

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the 

following, which are measured as 12-month ECL; mortgages receivable that are determined to 

have low credit risk at the reporting date, and mortgages receivable for which credit risk (i.e., 

the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition (Stage 1).  

When determining whether the credit risk of a mortgages receivable has increased significantly 

since initial recognition and when estimating ECL (Stage 2), the Company considers 

reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or 

effort. This assessment requires experienced credit judgment and includes both quantitative 

and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and 

informed credit assessment, including forward-looking information. The Company determines 

that the credit risk on a mortgage receivable has increased significantly if it is more than 

35 days past due and has a loan-to-value ratio above 45%.  
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3. Material accounting policies and changes in material accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Provision for mortgage losses (continued): 

The Company considers a mortgage loan to be in default and credit-impaired (Stage 3) when 

there is objective evidence that there has been a deterioration of credit quality to the extent the 

Company no longer has reasonable expectation as to the timely collection of the full amount of 

principal and interest. 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life 

of a mortgage receivable.  

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 

the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument 

is less than 12 months). 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period 

over which the Company is exposed to credit risk. 

Measurement of ECLs: 

For the purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and recognising a loss 

allowance on a collective basis, the Company groups mortgage receivables on the basis of 

shared credit risk characteristics. 

Incorporation of forward-looking information: 

The Company has incorporated forward-looking information into the measurement of expected 

credit losses. The relationship between historical default rates of the portfolio and multiple 

macroeconomic variables, such as interest rates and housing prices, has been considered. 

To reflect potential future conditions, the Company formulates three probability-weighted 

economic scenarios using forecasted economic data derived from financial institutions, 

management’s judgement, and industry expertise: a base case representing the most likely 

scenario, as well as an upside and a downside scenario.  

Credit-impaired financial assets: 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether mortgages receivable are credit-

impaired. A mortgage loan is ‘credit-impaired’ (Stage 3) when one or more events that have a 

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a mortgage loan is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

 a breach of contract such as a default;  

 it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; 

 known events that have caused, or are expected to cause, significant destruction or 

deterioration of the collateral or security supporting the loan; and 

 a significant decline in collateral value. 
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3. Material accounting policies and changes in material accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Provision for mortgage losses (continued): 

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued): 

The review of individual credit-impaired mortgages receivable is conducted by the Manager at 

each reporting date, including an assessment of the ultimate collectability and estimated 

recoveries for the specific mortgages receivable based on all events and conditions that are 

relevant and the expected value of collateral. 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position: 

Loss allowances for mortgages receivable are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the 

mortgages receivable. 

Write off: 

The gross carrying amount of mortgages receivable are written off (either partially or in full) to 

the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the 

Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could 

generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, 

mortgages receivable that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order 

to comply with the Company's procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

(g) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 

constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of 

the discount is recognized as finance cost. 

(h) New standards adopted effective January 1, 2024: 

The Company has adopted Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-

current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1). The amendments clarify the 

requirements for determining whether a liability should be classified as current or non-current 

and requires new disclosures for non-current liabilities that are subject to covenants. Adoption 

of these amendments had no impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

(i) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective: 

Several new accounting standards and pronouncements have been issued by the IASB or 

IFRS Interpretations Committee that will be effective for future accounting periods. The 

Company has not early adopted any of these new or amended accounting standards when 

preparing these statements. 
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3. Material accounting policies and changes in material accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements was issued in April 2024 and 

replaces IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. It is effective for annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2027 and is to be applied retrospectively, with early adoption 

permitted. The new standard revises the structure of the statement of profit or loss, updates 

disclosure requirements regarding management-defined performance measures, and 

enhances principles on aggregation and disaggregation, focusing on grouping items based on 

shared characteristics. Management is evaluating the impact of the new standard in 

preparation for its adoption on January 1, 2027. 

In May 2024, the IASB issued amendments to the classification and measurement of financial 

instruments with amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures. 

Effective from January 1, 2026, these changes apply to the classification of financial assets 

with contingent features and their measurement at amortized cost if consistent with basic 

lending arrangements. Additionally, the amendments address the timing of derecognition of 

financial liabilities via electronic payment systems under specific conditions. Management is 

evaluating the impact of the amendment for its adoption on January 1, 2026. 
 

4. Mortgages receivable: 

(a) Mortgages receivable: 

An analysis of the Company’s mortgages receivable, net of the provision for mortgage losses 

is as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Principal receivable: 

Residential $ 289,037,706 $ 281,683,396 
Construction 23,176,937     26,209,513 
Commercial 6,054,500 12,413,505 
Total principal receivable 318,269,143 320,306,414  

 
Accrued interest 4,047,297 3,205,613  
  322,316,440 323,512,027  
 
Provision for mortgage losses (5,341,512) (5,305,533) 
 
Total mortgages receivable $ 316,974,928 $ 318,206,494 
 

In addition to the above balances, the Company has nil (2023 - $479,775) of mortgage funds 

not yet advanced to the borrowers, for which interest is payable by the borrowers, under 

construction mortgages and residential secured lines of credit. The Company is under no 

obligation to advance further funds to these borrowers. 
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4. Mortgages receivable (continued):

(a) Mortgages receivable (continued):

Mortgages receivable bear interest at fixed or floating rates ranging from 7.70% to 14.45%

(2023 - 8.95% to 14.70%) per annum on funded mortgages, payable monthly. The mortgages 
are secured by charges on real property. As at December 31, 2024, 93% of mortgages have 
terms of one year or less (2023 - 95%) while the remaining 7%  have terms of more than one 
year  and up to two years (2023 - 5%).

(b) Provision for mortgage losses:

2024
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Mortgages receivable, 
including accrued interest $ 296,222,212 $ 25,717,864 $ 376,364 $ 322,316,440 

Provision for mortgage losses (2,453,625) (2,782,887)  (105,000) (5,341,512) 

Mortgages receivable $ 293,768,587 $ 22,934,977 $ 271,364 $ 316,974,928 

2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Mortgages receivable, 
including accrued interest $ 309,809,486 $ 13,702,541 $ - $ 323,512,027

Provision for mortgage losses (2,635,664) (2,669,869) - (5,305,533)

Mortgages receivable $ 307,173,822 $ 11,032,672 $ - $ 318,206,494

The following table presents a continuity of the provision for mortgage losses: 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance, January 1, 2024 $ 2,635,664 $ 2,669,869 $ - $ 5,305,533 
Transfers to (from) Stage 1 - - - - 
Transfers to (from) Stage 2 (139,393) 139,393 - - 
Transfers to (from) Stage 3 (1,403) (45,007) 46,410 - 
Net remeasurement  3,108 1,347,030 67,897 1,418,035 
Mortgage advances 1,548,664 285,180 - 1,833,844
Mortgage repayments (1,593,015) (1,613,578) (1,200) (3,207,793)
Write-off - - (8,107) (8,107)

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 2,453,625 $ 2,782,887 $ 105,000 $ 5,341,512 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance, January 1, 2023 $ 1,242,433 $ 1,862,805 $ - $ 3,105,238 
Transfers to (from) Stage 1 133,317 (133,317) - - 
Transfers to (from) Stage 2 (41,822) 41,822 - - 
Transfers to (from) Stage 3 - - - - 
Net remeasurement  191,776 1,706,591 - 1,898,367
Mortgage advances 1,768,475 393,899 - 2,162,374
Mortgage repayments (658,515) (1,201,931) - (1,860,446)
Write-off - - - - 

Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 2,635,664 $ 2,669,869 $ - $ 5,305,533 
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5. Loan: 

The Company has a revolving loan facility with a syndicate of financial institutions authorized to a 

maximum of $130,000,000 (2023 - $100,000,000) and may request an increase to the loan facility 

to a maximum amount of up to $180,000,000 by providing one or more accordion notices, which 

are subject to approval by the syndicate. The Company pays a floating rate of interest for the loan 

facility. The interest is dependent on the bank prime rate or the Canadian Overnight Repo Rate 

Average or a combination thereof, as chosen by the management. Under the agreement, the 

Company must maintain EBITDA to interest expense ratio of greater than 3.5:1, to be measured 

and reported quarterly. The Company must also maintain total debt to tangible net worth ratio of 

not greater than 0.75:1, to be measured and reported quarterly. The Company was in compliance 

with all covenants as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.  

The facility is secured by a general security agreement, a floating charge on all present and after-

acquired real property of the Company and a first ranking security interest in all personal property 

of the Company. 

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has a balance owing of $24,789,098 (2023 - $73,577,472) 

on the facility with the syndicate. The loan facility has a maturity date of August 28, 2025 and 

management will commence discussion on renewal of the facility with the syndicate by May 2025. 
 

6. Share capital: 

(a) Authorized: 

Class A common shares without par value limited to 1000 shares. 

Unlimited number of Class B preferred shares without par value. 

Unlimited number of Class C preferred shares without par value. 

Unlimited number of Class D preferred shares without par value. 

Unlimited number of Class E preferred shares without par value 

The Company has enacted the below changes, as approved by the shareholders on 

October 23, 2023: 

 Limited the total number of Class A common shares that can be issued to 1000 shares. 

 Amended the following rights and restrictions of Class A common shares and Class B 

preferred shares, resulting in reclassification of preferred shares to equity from liability and 

created three new classes of non-voting preferred shares with the same rights and 

restrictions as that of the reclassified Class B preferred non-voting shares. The new classes 

of the shares created were the Class C preferred shares, Class D preferred shares and 

the Class E preferred shares. 
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6. Share capital (continued): 

(a) Authorized (continued): 

Summary of Rights and Restrictions and Certain Definitions: 

Definitions: 

 “Book Value” of a share of a particular share class means such class’s proportionate share 

of all investments and other assets of the Company less its proportionate share of all 

liabilities of the Company, divided by the total number of shares of the class outstanding at 

that time; 

 “MIC Status” means qualifying as a mortgage investment corporation pursuant to the 

Income Tax Act of Canada including as defined in subsection 130.1(6) thereof (as such 

Income Tax Act may be amended from time to time); 

 The term “pari passu” refers to such concept on a per-share basis; 

 The Class A Common Voting shares shall be defined as “Class A Shares”; 

 The Class B Preferred Non-Voting shares shall be defined as “Class B Shares”; 

 The Class C Preferred Non-Voting shares shall be defined as “Class C Shares”; 

 The Class D Preferred Non-Voting shares shall be defined as “Class D Shares”; and 

 The Class E Preferred Non-Voting shares shall be defined as “Class E Shares”. 

Dividends: 

The holders of the Class A Shares are not entitled to any dividends (except to the minimum 

extent as may be required, if any, for the Company to maintain its MIC Status, in which case 

the holders of Class A Shares shall be entitled to dividends per-share equal to the dividends 

per-share declared from time to time to holders of the Class B Shares). 

The holders of the Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares and Class E Shares are 

entitled to dividends as and when declared by the directors. 

Voting: 

At all meetings of the shareholders of the Company, the holders of the Class A Shares are 

entitled to one vote for each Class A Share held. 

Save and except as required by the Business Corporations Act, the holders of the Class B 

Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares and Class E Shares are not entitled to vote at any 

meeting of the shareholders of the Company and are not entitled to receive notice of or to 

attend any meetings of the shareholders of the Company. 
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6. Share capital (continued): 

(a) Authorized (continued): 

Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up: 

In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or 

involuntary, or upon distribution of the assets of the Company among its shareholders for the 

purpose of winding-up its affairs or upon a reduction or return of its capital, the holders of the 

following classes of shares shall be entitled to receive the following amounts in the order of 

priority described below: 
 

Class Priority Liquidation Entitlement 

A 1st Paid-up capital only. 
 

B 2nd Any and all declared but unpaid dividends on the Class B Shares pari 
passu with the declared but unpaid dividends on the Class C Shares, 
Class D Shares and Class E Shares. 
 

C 2nd Any and all declared but unpaid dividends on the Class C Shares pari 
passu with the declared but unpaid dividends on the Class B Shares, 
Class D Shares and Class E Shares. 
 

D 2nd Any and all declared but unpaid dividends on the Class D Shares pari 
passu with the declared but unpaid dividends on the Class B Shares, 
Class C Shares and Class E Shares. 
 

E 2nd Any and all declared but unpaid dividends on the Class E Shares pari 
passu with the declared but unpaid dividends on the Class B Shares, 
Class C Shares and Class D Shares. 
 

B 3rd All remaing assets of the Company pari passu with the Class C Shares, 
Class D Shares and Class E Shares. 
 

C 3rd All remaing assets of the Company pari passu with the Class B Shares, 
Class D Shares and Class E Shares. 
 

D 3rd All remaing assets of the Company pari passu with the Class B Shares, 
Class C Shares and Class E Shares. 
 

E 3rd All remaing assets of the Company pari passu with the Class B Shares, 
Class C Shares and Class D Shares. 
 

 

  



CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024 
 

 

17 

6. Share capital (continued): 

(a) Authorized (continued): 

Redemption: 

(1) The Class A Shares are not redeemable provided that, subject to the Business 

Corporations Act, the Company may purchase some or all of such shares pursuant to the 

terms of any agreement between the Company and the applicable shareholder(s) provided 

that each such purchase would not result in the Company ceasing to have MIC Status. 

(2) The Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares and Class E Shares are redeemable 

and accordingly may, subject to the Business Corporations Act, be redeemed at the option 

of the Company for the paid-up capital of such shares (the “Class Redemption Price”) plus 

any declared but unpaid dividends thereon up to the date of the redemption, all upon the 

terms and conditions herein contained. 

(3) The Company may, upon giving notice as hereinafter provided, redeem the whole or any 

number of the Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares on 

payment for each share to be redeemed of the applicable Class Redemption Price therefor 

and no more. To effect such notice the Company shall give not less than 21 days’ notice 

in writing of such redemption by mailing such notice to the registered holder(s) of the shares 

to be redeemed specifying a date and place or places of redemption; if notice of any such 

redemption is given by the Company in the manner aforesaid and an amount sufficient to 

redeem the shares is deposited with any trust company or chartered bank of Canada, as 

specified in the notice, on or before the date fixed for redemption, the holder(s) of the 

shares to be redeemed will thereafter have no rights against the Company in respect 

thereof, except, upon the surrender of certificates representing such shares, to receive 

payment of their respective Class Redemption Price amount owing as at the date fixed for 

redemption. The holders of any shares to be redeemed may waive any notice required to 

be given under this paragraph and such waiver, whether given before or after the 

redemption, shall cure any default in giving such notice. 

(4) The Company may redeem shares of any class of redeemable shares without redeeming 

shares of any other class of redeemable shares and, notwithstanding anything in these 

Articles to the contrary, if not all of the issued and outstanding shares of any class are to 

be redeemed, the shares to be redeemed may be selected in such manner as the Directors 

in their sole discretion may determine and need not be selected either in proportion to the 

number of shares registered in the name of each shareholder holding shares of such class 

nor from every or any particular registered holder of shares of such class. 

(5) If fewer than all of the shares of any class represented by any certificate are to be 

redeemed then a new certificate representing the shares not being redeemed shall be 

issued at the expense of the Company. 

(6) Payment for the Class Redemption Price shall be made within 90 days of the effective date 

of the redemption, and any amounts owing in respect of the Class Redemption Price shall 

not bear interest until the payment date provided hereunder. 
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6. Share capital (continued): 

(a) Authorized (continued): 

Retraction: 

(1) The Class A Shares are not retractable provided that, subject to the Business Corporations 

Act and subject to the Company maintaining MIC Status following any such proposed 

transaction(s), the Company may purchase such shares pursuant to the terms of any 

agreement between the Company and the applicable shareholder(s). 

(2) The Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares and Class E Shares are retractable 

and accordingly registered holders of Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or 

Class E Shares may, at their option, require the Company to redeem the Class B Shares, 

Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares, as applicable, held by them upon the 

terms and conditions and subject to the constraints herein contained (and for greater 

certainty, not upon the terms and conditions of the Redemption section, and the price 
payable for each such share shall be the lesser of (i) the paid-up capital for such share; 

and (ii) the Book Value of such share at the time the share is to be redeemed (the 

“Retraction Price”), together with any declared but unpaid dividends on such Class B 

Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares, as applicable up to the date 

such shares are redeemed in accordance with this Retraction section. 

(3) Subject to the Business Corporations Act (as may be amended and/or superseded from 

time-to-time) and the other restrictions described in these Articles, the Company will, upon 

receiving a retraction notice as hereinafter provided from a registered shareholder holding 

Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares redeem the number 

of Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares, as applicable, 

registered in the name of the shareholder which are specified in such notice by paying to 

such shareholder for each such share the applicable Retraction Price in respect thereof 

(together with any declared but unpaid dividends thereon), and no more, no later than the 

last business day of the third calendar month after the month in which the retraction notice 

is given (e.g., if notice is given in March then the third calendar month after March is June) 

by the shareholder pursuant to this paragraph (the “Retraction Date” and such period from 

the beginning of the calendar month in which such retraction notice is given until the 

Retraction Date, the “Retraction Period”). Written notice of such retraction request must be 

given to the Company by a shareholder seeking to exercise their right of retraction with 

respect to their Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares, as 

applicable, such notice to be delivered by hand or by registered mail (which formalities of 

delivery the Company may waive on a case by case basis) to the principal business office 

of the Company (which is presently 201 - 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia 

V6C 2T5 but is subject to change from time to time), specifying the number of Class B 

Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares to be redeemed. Any 

redemption(s) of Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares by 

the Company made upon receipt of any retraction notice(s) need not be made on a pro 

rata basis among Class B shareholders, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E 

Shares except as expressly provided in this Retraction section. 
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6. Share capital (continued):

(a) Authorized (continued):

(4) Notwithstanding subsection Retraction (3) above, if the retraction(s) pursuant to such

requested but unfulfilled notice(s) of retraction would result in the Company:

(i) ceasing to have MIC Status or, in the opinion of the Company's directors, jeopardizing

the Company's ability to maintain reasonable profitability in its portfolio of mortgage
investments;

(ii) redeeming, in such fiscal year, a number of Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D

Shares or Class E Shares which exceeds 35% of the aggregate issued and
outstanding Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares and Class E Shares, at

the beginning of such fiscal year; or

(iii) redeeming, in respect of retraction notices received by the Company in a given

calendar month, more than 5% of the aggregate Class B Shares, Class C Shares,

Class D Shares and Class E Shares which were outstanding at the beginning of the

then-current fiscal year; then the Company must comply with subsection Retraction (5)

below with respect to such unfulfilled retraction notice(s).

(5) In the case where unfulfilled retraction notices which, if fulfilled, would exceed any

threshold(s) identified in subsection Retraction (4) have been received by the Company,

then, subject to Retraction (6), in respect of such retraction notices the Company will:

(i) redeem Pro Rata up to the maximum amount of Class B Shares, Class C Shares,

Class D Shares or Class E Shares which would not exceed the threshold(s) in

subsection Retraction (4), and in this context “Pro Rata” means the number of shares
requested to be redeemed under a shareholder’s unfulfilled retraction notices relative

to the total number of shares requested to be redeemed among all shareholders’
unfulfilled retraction notices;

(ii) continue redeeming Pro Rata any unfulfilled retraction notices in such amounts and at

such dates which would not exceed the threshold(s) in the subsection Retraction (4);

(iii) continue invoking the procedures set out in subsections Retraction (5)(i) and (ii) with

respect to retraction notices that are not yet completely fulfilled including any further

retraction notices which may received and without giving priority to retraction notices
that may be received earlier than others or which may be unfulfilled from any earlier

Retraction Period(s); and

(iv) in respect of each Retraction Date for which the Company receives retraction requests

exceeding the allowable thresholds under subsection Retraction (4), advise, in writing,
each of the holders of Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares and Class E

Shares that have given retraction notices with respect to such Retraction Date of the

number of Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares, as

applicable, held by them that the Company will redeem for such Retraction Period.
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6. Share capital (continued):

(a) Authorized (continued):

(6) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection Retraction (5), if retraction notices exceeding
the threshold(s) of subsection/s Retraction (4)(ii) and/or (iii) have been received by the

Company, the Directors may in their discretion, if they determine it is in the best interests

of the Company, cause the Company to redeem more than the number of shares permitted
according to such threshold(s) and pay the applicable Retraction Price(s) to the holders of
such Class B Shares, Class C Shares, Class D Shares or Class E Shares, as applicable,

in accordance with subsection Retraction (3).

(b) Issued and outstanding:

2024 2023 

Common shares: 
400 (2023 - 400) Class A common shares $ 4 $ 4 

Redeemable preferred shares: 
275,497,059 (2023 - 241,640,107) Class B 

redeemable preferred shares $ 275,497,059 $ 241,640,107
14,371,726 (2023 - nil) Class C 

redeemable preferred shares 14,371,726 - 

(c) Redeemable preferred shares:

The preferred shares are redeemable at the option of the holder or at the option of the Company

at a redemption price equal to $1.00 per share. Redemptions of preferred shares are subject

to the conditions mentioned in note 6(a).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company issued $70,605,532
(2023 - $43,595,638) preferred shares at $1.00 per share. $10,341,240 (2023 - $8,045,675) of

the issued redeemable preferred shares related to reinvested distributions and reinvested
dividends that is a non-cash financing activity and part of the $27,743,871 (2023 - $22,689,905)

in distributions and dividends for the year. A total of $22,376,854 (2023 - $35,160,465)

preferred shares were redeemed at $1.00 per share.

(c) Redeemable preferred shares:

As at December 31, 2024, $14,197,875 (2023 - $14,484,417) of the redeemable preferred

shares are held by related parties of the Company at a cost of $1.00 per share. During the year

ended December 31, 2024, the Company issued $4,265,616 (2023 - $1,823,350) redeemable
preferred shares to related parties at $1.00 per share, of which $366,926 (2023 - $402,070)

related to reinvested distributions. Of the total redemptions, $4,552,176 (2023 - $632,890)
related to transactions effected by related parties. Of the total cash dividends paid to
redeemable preferred shareholders, $1,127,348 was paid to related parties of the Company

(2023 - $877,218).
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6. Share capital (continued):

(d) Share reclassification report:

The following information is provided for the 2023 comparative period:

Balance at December 31, 2022 - 
Redeemable preferred shares (liability) $ 233,204,934 

Reinvested distributions - prior to reclassification 5,726,212 
Issuance of redeemable preferred shares    31,848,756 
Redemption of redeemable preferred shares     (27,268,289) 

Balance at October 23, 2023 - 
Redeemable preferred shares (reclassified as equity) 243,511,613 

Reinvested dividends - post reclassification 2,319,463 
Issuance of redeemable preferred shares   3,701,207 
Redemption of redeemable preferred shares (7,892,176) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 - 
Redeemable preferred shares (equity) $ 241,640,107 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company distributed $10,782,648 in cash to 

the holders of redeemable preferred shares before the reclassification of redeemable preferred 
shares from liability to equity and $3,861,582 in cash dividends to the holders of redeemable 
preferred shares after the reclassification, for a total of $14,644,230.  

7. Related party transactions:

(a) Commissions:

Commissions are fees paid to the originating brokers and co-brokers. The originating broker or
co-broker could be Peet & Cowan Financial Services Inc. (the “Manager”), an affiliated

Company, or an external broker.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, $2,899,786 (2023 - $2,402,737) in commissions
were paid to the Manager and is included in fee and commission expense in the statement of

income and comprehensive income.

At December 31, 2024, there are $95,570 in commissions payable (2023 - nil) to the Manager.

(b) Management fees:

The Company does not have and does not expect to have any employees. In order to obtain
ongoing administrative and management services, the Company has entered into a

management agreement with the Manager, to manage and oversee the Company’s day-to-day

operations. The Company has committed to paying the Manager an annual management fee
equal to 1.5% of total mortgages receivable, to be calculated and paid on a monthly basis.

At December 31, 2024, there are nil in management fees payable (2023 - nil) to the Manager.
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8. Financial instruments: 

(a) Fair value: 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of mortgages receivable, loan, accounts payable 

and accrued liabilities. The fair values of these accounts approximate their carrying values due 

to the short-term nature of these instruments. 

The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements: 

Level 1: Unadjusted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either 

directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3: Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value is categorized shall be 

determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement in its entirety. The Company’s financial instruments are classified as Level 2 in 

the fair value hierarchy. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, 

no financial assets and liabilities were transferred between the levels of the fair value hierarchy.  

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has no financial instruments measured at fair value 

(2023 - nil). 

(b) Financial risk management: 

The Corporation is exposed to financial risks arising from changing economic and market 

conditions, including credit, liquidity, and interest rate risk. These are actively managed through 

established policies and procedures. In recent periods, global and domestic markets have 

experienced elevated uncertainty, driven by inflationary pressures, shifts in monetary policy, 

and broader geopolitical and economic developments. These factors may impact borrower 

performance, asset valuations, and access to capital. The Corporation maintains prudent 

underwriting standards and a diversified mortgage portfolio, and continues to monitor these 

risks, adjusting its strategies as necessary in response to evolving conditions. 

(i) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 

will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to 

significant interest rate risk as the majority of the Company’s mortgages receivable are 

short-term. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on the loan as it is based on 

floating rates. 
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8. Financial instruments (continued):

(b) Financial risk management (continued):

(ii) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises primarily from the Company’s

mortgages receivable. The Company mitigates this risk by having well established lending
policies in place, ensuring mortgages receivable are well secured by collateral, and limiting

exposure to any one borrower.

The Company evaluates the borrower's credit worthiness and ability to repay the mortgage

when it is originally granted or subsequently renewed; and on an ongoing basis, monitors

information such as delinquent and overdue accounts and loan-to-value ratios.

(iii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations

as they are due. The Company manages liquidity by ensuring, as far as possible, that it

will have sufficient liquidity under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The Manager

prepares a yearly budget and cash flow forecasts, and actively monitors the Company’s

liquidity position.

The Company also has a loan facility available to use for liquidity management (see
note 5).

(c) Capital management:

The Company's objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders. The Company includes equity, comprising

of issued common shares, redeemable preferred shares and retained earnings, in the definition
of capital. The Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure
that it has sufficient cash resources to invest in mortgages in order to provide a return to its

redeemable preferred shareholders. To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these
plans, the Company may attempt to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity. The
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and there has been no

change with respect to the overall capital management strategy during the year ended
December 31, 2024.
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Dated  April 16, 2025  

This Offering Memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation. 

_________________________ 
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________________________ 
Francis Peet, Vice-President 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

_________________________ 
Jonathon Cowan, Director 

_______________________ 
Francis Peet, Director 




